

Vitamin D and the Immune System

Mir Hojjat Khorasanizadeh, Mahsa Eskian, Carlos A. Camargo Jr., and Nima Rezaei

Contents

Introduction	16
Metabolism of VitD	17
Sources and Synthesis	17
VitD Receptor	19
Serum 25(OH)D Levels	19
Defining VitD Status	19
Factors Affecting VitD Status	19
VitD Supplementation	20
VitD and the Immune System. VitD in Innate Immunity. VitD and Dendritic Cells. VitD and Adaptive Immunity.	20 21 26 27
VitD Status and Disease	30
Autoimmune Conditions	32
Chronic Inflammatory Disorders	35
Infectious Disorders	37
VitD Metabolism, Genetic Variations, and Disease	39
Conclusions	40
Keierences	40

M. H. Khorasanizadeh · M. Eskian Research Center for Immunodeficiencies, Children's Medical Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Network of Immunity in Infection, Malignancy and Autoimmunity (NIIMA), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran

C. A. Camargo Jr.

Department of Emergency Medicine, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

Division of Rheumatology, Allergy, and Immunology, Department of Medicine, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 M. Mahmoudi, N. Rezaei (eds.), *Nutrition and Immunity*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16073-9_2 N. Rezaei (🖂) Research Center for Immunodeficiencies, Children's Medical Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Department of Immunology, School of Medicine, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Network of Immunity in Infection, Malignancy and Autoimmunity (NIIMA), Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tehran, Iran e-mail: Rezaei_nima@tums.ac.ir

Key Points

- Vitamin D plays role in homeostasis of calcium and phosphate and therefore is necessary to maintain metabolic and skeletal health.
- Vitamin D interacts with immune cells expressing its receptor and thereby influencing innate and adaptive immune responses.
- Vitamin D serves as a potent stimulant of innate defense, while it is thought to be a tolerogenic immunomodulator in adaptive immunity.
- Recent studies support vitamin D as a promising and safe nutrient for prevention and adjunctive treatment of several immune-associated disorders.

Introduction

Vitamin D (VitD) is a secosteroid hormone, originally recognized for its pivotal role in mineral metabolism and skeletal health through homeostasis of calcium and phosphate. In the early 20th century, the important finding that rickets in children and osteomalacia in adults are associated with lack of VitD brought this compound to the attention of the scientific community. This led to the understanding of skeletal functions of VitD and also a significant drop in prevalence of rickets and osteomalacia in many parts of the world. It is now well known that VitD increases intestinal calcium and phosphate absorption, induces the renal reabsorption of calcium in the distal tubules, stimulates osteoclast activation and thereby calcium reabsorption from the bones, and enhances mineralization of the collagen bone matrix through maintaining adequate calcium and phosphate levels. However, the effects of VitD on the human body are much wider than its classical role in skeletal homeostasis.

A growing body of literature over the past few decades has demonstrated the diverse effects of VitD in several extra-skeletal systems and their related disease states. The paradigm-shifting finding that almost every tissue in the body expresses the VitD nuclear receptor and thus responds to the function-modulating effects of VitD at a cellular level reshaped the perspective on how vitamin D influences human health. Microarray analyses show that up to 5% of the human genome is directly or indirectly regulated by VitD [1]. Studies indicate that VitD interferes with more than 160 biological pathways in 36 different cell types [1]. Moreover, many epidemiologic studies have linked low VitD status to a variety of pathologic conditions in many different organs and systems in the human body, including cancer, cardiovascular diseases, metabolic syndrome, neurological conditions, and – of greatest relevance for this chapter – several major immunerelated disorders and infectious diseases.

Technically, the association between VitD and immunity and infection has long been appreciated, without the underlying mechanisms being clearly understood. Before development of effective antibiotics, VitD was used - unknowingly treat infectious diseases, particularly to tuberculosis (TB). It is now known that VitD can be endogenously produced after skin exposure to ultraviolet (UV) solar irradiation. VitD was initially referred to as the "sunshine cure" since it mimicked the effects of sun exposure on TB patients. According to the writings of Hippocrates, solar therapy has been in use to treat infectious disorders, particularly TB, at least since the ancient Greek era. In the eighteenth- and nineteenth-century Europe, heliotherapy (sun exposure) in sanatoriums or open-air sun-exposed mountain retreats was a common practice for treatment of TB. The 1903 Nobel Prize in medicine was awarded to Niels Finsen for his demonstration that UV light was beneficial in treating cutaneous TB. Moreover, cod liver oil - a rich dietary source of VitD with more than 1000 International Units (IU) of VitD per tablespoon [2] - has traditionally been employed for treatment of TB patients, chronic rheumatism, and general protection from infections. The first scientific evidence for the efficacy of cod liver oil supplementation was provided as early as 1848 at the Brompton Hospital in London, when a clinical trial of cod liver oil in 542 TB patients reported a significant inhibition of disease progression. Cod liver oil supplementation became a popular anti-TB practice for almost a century,

during which steady drops in TB-related death rates were reported in the UK [3]. In the modern era, evidence for the direct involvement of VitD in the immune system emerged in the 1980s, when, for example, a 1986 study showed that VitD inhibits the growth of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in cultured human macrophages [4]. Since then, interest in elucidating the role of VitD in the immune system has resulted in the accumulation of a vast body of evidence that, as will be discussed in this chapter, indicates the deep involvement of VitD in human innate and adaptive immune responses.

Metabolism of VitD

Sources and Synthesis

A vitamin is defined as a substance present in minute amounts in food and is essential to consume to avoid pathology. Although widely viewed as a vitamin, VitD is in fact a secosteroid hormone, derived from both endogenous and nutritional sources (Fig. 2.1). Cholecalciferol (D₃) and ergocalciferol (D₂) represent the two major biological precursors of VitD. In humans, the main source of D_3 is the endogenous cutaneous synthesis of D₃ from 7-dehydrocholesterol through a photochemical reaction upon exposure to the solar UV-B irradiation (wavelength 290–320 nm). Exogenous sources of D₃ are limited to fatty fish (e.g., salmon, mackerel, sardines, tuna), fish liver oil, egg yolk, as well as VitD-fortified foods and supplements. D₂ is mostly found in VitD-fortified foods and supplements, but certain sun-dried mushrooms also contain D₂. Both D₂ and D₃ circulate the blood as inactive prohormones bound to VitD-binding protein (DBP) and require two sequential hydroxylations to become biologically active, after which they appear to have comparable biological activity. The first hydroxylation is accomplished in the liver, where through the action of cytochrome P450 25-α hydroxylase enzymes such as CYP2R1 and CYP27A1, 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25(OH)D, calcidiol or calcifediol) is formed. With a half-life of 2–3 weeks, 25(OH)D is the main circulating form of VitD in the body, and as will be discussed later, measure-

ment of its serum levels is the most commonly used method to define human VitD status. Most 25(OH)D circulates in the blood bound to DBP as an inactive metabolite (80-85%), with a smaller portion less strongly bound to albumin and a minute portion freely circulating in the blood. 25(OH) D is then hydroxylated again, mainly in the kidney proximal tubule cells, by the cytochrome P450 $1-\alpha$ hydroxylase enzyme CYP27B1, thus forming $1,25(OH)_2D$ or calcitriol, which is the hormonally active form of VitD in the human body. The second hydroxylation is stimulated by the parathyroid hormone (PTH) and inhibited by the calciuric hormone fibroblast growth factor-23 (FGF-23). Moreover, calcitriol levels are strictly regulated by a renal negative feedback mechanism, where high serum calcitriol levels inhibit CYP27B1 and stimulate CYP24A1 (24- α hydroxylase) which initiates catabolic degradation of calcitriol into the inactive, water-soluble form, calcitroic acid, which is then excreted in the bile. 1,25(OH)₂D is also transported in the blood bound to DBP; however, it has a relatively short plasma half-life of only hours.

Although the kidneys are the main site of 1,25(OH)₂D production, it is crucial to note that they are not the only source. CYP27B1 is present and active in many extrarenal tissues including breast, prostate, bone, brain, smooth muscle, as well as the immune system. Many immune and inflammatory cell types can convert the circulating 25(OH)D into calcitriol including monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells, and activated lymphocytes. Unlike renal generation of calcitriol, the activity of $1-\alpha$ hydroxylase CYP27B1 in the immune cells is not regulated by serum PTH, calcium, and calcitriol levels; in contrast, it is mostly stimulated after exposure to local inflammatory cytokines such as interferon- γ (IFN- γ), tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), IL-1, and lipopolysaccharides (LPS). In other words, extrarenal CYP27B1 is nonresponsive to systemic regulators and is induced by local factors. In conclusion, it seems that in addition to the $1,25(OH)_2D$ endocrine renal loop, which provides constant levels of *circulating* calcitriol that mostly affect calcium and phosphate homeostasis, VitD signaling also involves paracrine and autocrine pathways that provide high *local* concentrations of calcitriol in



Fig. 2.1 Synthesis and metabolism of VitD. Ca calcium, P phosphate, PTH parathyroid hormone, FGF-23 fibroblast growth factor 23

various tissues throughout the body, affecting cell growth, differentiation, proliferation, and several other cellular functions in many cell types.

VitD Receptor

Like other steroid hormones, the biological effects of calcitriol are mediated through a nuclear secosteroid receptor. VitD receptor (VDR) is activated upon the binding of calcitriol to the α -helical ligand binding domain of the VDR. The calcitriol-VDR complex acts as a transcription factor after dimerizing with the DNAbinding protein retinoid X receptor (RXR). The calcitriol-VDR-RXR heterodimer binds to several specific regulatory sequences within the promoter region of the target genes, termed VitD-responsive elements (VDREs). This eventually results in the modulation of transcription and expression of specific gene products [5, 6]. Besides acting as an independent transcription factor, the calcitriol-VDR complex can also modulate the expression of target proteins through binding to other transcription factors (e.g., STAT-1 and IKK- β) [7]. Interestingly, recent studies have brought to light the presence of nonnuclear receptors for VitD. These distinct VDRs are located at the cell surface and perinuclear area and are collectively termed as membrane VDRs (mVDRs). VitD can exert non-genomic rapid biological effects through binding mVDRs, which subsequently activates several intracellular signaling pathways [8]. As mentioned earlier, VDR is expressed and active in a multitude of cell types present in the human body and regulates hundreds of biological pathways through the described mechanisms. In the immune system, VDR is constitutively expressed in monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells and inducibly expressed by the lymphocytes upon activation [9].

Serum 25(OH)D Levels

Defining VitD Status

As was mentioned earlier, considering the very short half-life, extremely low serum concentrations, and highly lipophilic nature of calcitriol, serum levels of 25(OH)D are the principal marker used for assessment of VitD status. There is little consensus on the 25(OH)D serum level threshold that most adequately distinguishes biological VitD deficiency, insufficiency, or sufficiency, meaning that there is no common definition for adequate VitD status. The Institute of Medicine defines VitD deficiency in adults as serum 25(OH)D concentrations of less than 30 nmol/l (12 ng/ml) and considers serum levels of 50 nmol/l (20 ng/ml) and higher as adequate [10]. In contrast, the Endocrine Society and International Osteoporosis Foundation define deficiency as levels below 50 nmol/l (20 ng/ml), and *sufficiency* as levels of 75 nmol/l (30 ng/ml) and higher [11, 12]. Consensus will be difficult given the likelihood that different populations may have different levels due to different levels of DBP and that different levels of 25(OH)D may mean different things depending on the outcome (disease) of interest.

Factors Affecting VitD Status

Low VitD status could be regarded as a pandemic as it was estimated to affect more than one billion people worldwide [13]. Many populationwide and individual factors affect VitD status. In a person not under treatment with VitD supplements, only a minor portion of the VitD needs are derived from dietary sources, except in case of rare dietary habits. Therefore, VitD status of a subject mainly depends on endogenous UV-Bmediated synthesis of D_3 . As a result, the levels of VitD are affected by factors like clothing, latitude, altitude, season, cloud cover, air pollution, skin pigmentation, skin health, and lifestyle (e.g., indoor vs. outdoor, use of sunblock), all of which collectively determine the amount of UV-B irradiation the epidermis receives. For example, at 45° latitude, which is south of many major population centers of Europe and North America, the radiation intensity is too low to ensure sufficient VitD synthesis for almost 6 months of the year [14]. This so-called VitD winter is even longer in areas with higher latitudes. Higher rates of VitD deficiency in dark-skinned African or African-American populations is another example, which

arises from the higher absorption of UV-B by the cutaneous melanin and therefore lower availability of UV-B for VitD synthesis. Compared to light-skinned (white) populations, dark-skinned subjects need six times more UV-B exposure to reach the same serum 25(OH)D levels [15]. Serum 25(OH)D levels in African-Americans have been shown to be approximately one-half those of white (European) Americans [16]. It is also known that serum 25(OH)D levels are at their lowest levels after winter and reach their maximum at the end of summer, thus reflecting the seasonal variation in VitD status [17]. As was discussed earlier, there are very few natural non-fortified foods that contain relevant amounts of VitD. Therefore, the regional food fortification strategy is another significant contributing factor to VitD status in a population. Some countries routinely fortify some staple products such as dairy products. Consequently, place of residence and nutritional habits are important parameters that affect individual vitamin D dietary intake. Furthermore, sufficient amounts of 7-dehydrocholesterol are needed for D₃ synthesis. Elderly people are often found to be VitD deficient due to structural changes of skin and limited bioavailability of 7-dehydrocholesterol. Cutaneous synthesis of VitD in individuals over 70 years old is half that of younger than 20 subjects in otherwise similar conditions [18].

VitD Supplementation

Considering that several individual factors, described above, influence VitD status of a subject, and in the absence of commonly approved guidelines for target serum 25(OH)D levels, there is no international consensus on optimal level of VitD supplementation. While many groups have recommended higher daily allowances, the 2010 Institute of Medicine report recommended 400 IU of supplemental VitD per day for birth to 12 months, 600 IU daily for ages 1 through 70, and 800 IU daily for people older than 70 [19]. Supplementation could be in the form of either D₂ or D₃, as administration of the biologically active metabolite calcitriol or its analogs might be associated with potential side effects espe-

cially hypercalcemia, and is reserved for particular indications such as chronic kidney disease and hypoparathyroidism. Limited evidence suggests that D_3 supplementation might offer superior efficacy in improvement of serum 25(OH)D levels compared to D_2 ; however, whether this translates into improved VDR engagement and target cell bioavailability is subject to ongoing debate [20].

As mentioned earlier, many countries use food fortification strategies to prevent VitD deficiency at the community level. VitD fortification of fluid milk is mandatory in the United States and Canada, through which 350-450 IU of VitD is provided per liter of fortified milk. Other commonly fortified products include yogurt, cereal, juice, and cheese, all of which usually contain 40-100 IU VitD per regular serving. As human milk is a poor resource of VitD (given the low vitamin D status of most mothers), Food and Drug Administration (FDA) requires infant formula to contain 40-100 IU VitD per 100 kcal. VitD intoxication - observed only when serum 25(OH)D levels are beyond 375 nmol/l (150 ng/ ml) – is a very rare condition characterized by hypercalcemia, hypercalciuria, urinary calculi formation, and calcifications in different organs [21]. To avoid VitD intoxication from supplement use, the Endocrine Society and the Institute of Medicine, respectively, recommend tolerable upper daily limits of 10,000 and 4000 IU for VitD supplementation [10, 12]. However, the therapeutic window seems to be much wider, as most cases of VitD intoxication are associated with prolonged involuntary intake of doses of supplemental VitD as high as 40,000 IU per day or more [22]. These very unusual cases are typically due to ingestion of food that was mistakenly fortified with excess vitamin D, which can be prevented through more rigorous oversight of the food industry.

VitD and the Immune System

Over the past few decades, countless studies have explored the diverse role of VitD in different aspects of the human immune response. Two key concepts contributed most to the new era of VitD as a potential immunomodulator: (a) Expression of VDR by several immune cell types. As mentioned earlier, VDR is constitutively expressed in neutrophils, monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells (DCs) and inducibly expressed by T and B lymphocytes upon activation. VDR modulates the function of up to 500 VitD-responsive genes involved in activation, differentiation, and proliferation of immune cells. (b) Production of active VitD by several immune cell types. Unlike the previous assumption, it is now known that the synthesis of $1,25(OH)_2D$ is not restricted to the kidneys. Monocytes, macrophages, and DCs express both 25- α and 1- α hydroxylase enzymes, which enables them to convert serum D_3 or D_2 into 25(OH)D and then $1,25(OH)_2D$. Lymphocytes only express $1-\alpha$ hydroxylase and are therefore able to convert 25(OH)D into $1,25(OH)_2D$ [23]. It is important to underline that the activity of CYP27B1 in the immune cells is not influenced by the classical endocrine feedback mechanisms. In contrast, the generation of and response to VitD in the immune system involves intracrine and paracrine pathways that are subject to local modulatory signals. Inflammatory stimuli such as IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-1, IL-2, and LPS upregulate the expression of CYP27B1 through activating the transcription factor C/EBP β and consequently induce the synthesis of active VitD (calcitriol) provided that the substrate 25(OH)D is sufficiently available [24]. In the chronic granulomatous disease sarcoidosis, excessive serum levels of calcitriol and calcium are detected, owing to the unchecked chronic CYP27B1 activity in alveolar macrophages that are not responsive to serum calcitriol, PTH, and calcium levels [25]. In summary, these two (bolded) concepts clearly establish that immune cells are "wired" i.e., have the necessary machinery - to directly synthesize and respond to VitD and thus support an immunomodulatory function for VitD similar to well-known inflammatory cytokines.

The evidence for direct involvement of VitD in the immune system was first provided in the 1980s when, for example, a 1986 study showed that active VitD inhibits the proliferation of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in cultured human macrophages [4]. Since then, the newfound interest in elucidating the role of VitD in the immune system has resulted in the accumulation of a vast body of evidence that, as will be discussed shortly, indicates the deep involvement of VitD in human innate and adaptive immune responses. The available evidence can be categorized into two groups. The first group, discussed in the current section, comprises of in vitro, animal, and clinical mechanistic studies which explore the specific roles of VitD in a variety of immune cells. Discussed in the following sections are the observational and interventional human studies that try to link impaired VitD status with dysregulation of immune responses and higher prevalence, incidence, and severity of immune-related and infectious disease conditions.

VitD in Innate Immunity

Innate immunity provides the first line of defense against external challenges and prevents spread and exacerbation of infection through rapid recognition and elimination of invading pathogens. The innate immune system consists of a combination of physical and chemical barriers. Monocytes and macrophages are key effector cells of innate immunity and express both VDR and CYP27B1, as mentioned earlier. In addition to phagocytosis of pathogens, their function also involves activation of pattern-recognition receptors including toll-like receptors (TLRs) located on their cell membrane. Upon exposure to pathogen-associated molecular patterns, TLRs initiate a cascade of cellular events aimed for pathogen killing and induction of inflammation, among which is the production of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) such as α -defensins, β -defensins, and cathelicidin. AMPs are among the first responders of the innate immune attack against pathogens. Human cathelicidin (hCAP18) is the main AMP in the innate immune system with broad microbicidal activity against bacteria, viruses, and fungi. It is encoded by the cathelicidin antimicrobial peptide (CAMP) gene which is expressed in neutrophils and monocytes, as well as DCs, lymphocytes, natural killer (NK) cells, and epithelial cells of the skin, gastrointestinal tract, and respiratory tract [26]. AMPs co-localize with the ingested pathogens within phagosomes and contribute to microbial killing via destabilization of microbial membranes. Aside from their direct microbicidal role, AMPs modulate many other immune processes, including mast cell degranulation, cell differentiation, vascular permeability, wound healing, and the process of antigen presentation. They also might act as chemoattractants for neutrophils and monocytes and modulate the production of cytokines and chemokines [27–32].

It is well-established that VitD is a stimulator of innate immune response through several mechanisms (Fig. 2.2). Several studies have elucidated the crucial role of the autocrine 1,25(OH)₂D pathway in promotion of antimicrobial response through inducing production of AMPs in a variety of cell types. Direct regulation of AMPs by VitD is evidenced by the fact that promoters of human cathelicidin and β -defensin 2 genes, respectively, contain three and one VDREs [33, 34]. Human expression profiling studies have revealed that in monocytes and macrophages, activation of TLR2/1 upon recognition of pathogen antigens strongly induces the expression of VDR and CYP27B1. When sufficient concentrations of circulating 25(OH)D are available, this leads into significant localized production and activation of 1,25(OH)₂D. Subsequently, the calcitriol-VDR-RXR complexes bind to the VDREs within the promoter of AMP genes, which upregulates the transcription of these genes and expression of AMP proteins, such as cathelicidin, and thereby promotes intracellular microbial killing in phagocytic vacuoles [16, 34, 35].

Various in vitro and in vivo studies have corroborated the explained involvement of calcitriol in induction of AMP production in monocytes and macrophages. Exogenous 1,25(OH)₂D has been shown to inhibit proliferation the of Mycobacterium tuberculosis in cultured human macrophages [4]. Adams et al. showed that TLR2/1 stimulation of human monocytes by the TLR2/1 ligand 19 kDa lipopeptide resulted in a 5.0-fold increase in expression of CYP27B1 by monocytes. Moreover, expression of cathelicidin correlated with 25(OH)D levels in serum culture supplements and was significantly enhanced by exogenous 25(OH)D [36].

VitD is the key effector that links TLR activation to cellular antimicrobial response, as it is the primary inducer of AMP genes. As explained, since transcription of cathelicidin is absolutely dependent on sufficient levels of VitD, variations in VitD status of individuals seem to affect the induction of cathelicidin expression in cases of infection. A cross-sectional study showed that VitD deficiency in septic patients was associated with lower concentrations of cathelicidin [37]. In another study, VDR-driven induction of CAMP expression in serum-cultured human macrophages was strongly dependent on serum 25(OH)D concentrations. Macrophages cultured in sera from VitD-insufficient individuals were inefficient in inducing the expression of cathelicidin mRNA [16]. Conversely, supplementation of VitD-insufficient individuals has been found to restore monocyte cathelicidin induction following TLR activation ex vivo [36]. These findings provide a rationale for the possible association of VitD deficiency with increased susceptibility to infections.

Neutrophils are a key component of the innate immune response especially in severe infections, and neutrophil granules are known to be a major source of cathelicidin. As indicated earlier, although neutrophils express VDR, activity of CYP27B1 in neutrophils has not been reported. Therefore, unlike monocytes and macrophages, VitD-induced regulation of CAMP in neutrophils – if existent – relies on circulating 1,25(OH)₂D produced by kidneys, rather than local intracrine loops [38].

Besides regulation of CAMP, calcitriol is responsible for regulation of other AMPs such as human β -defensin 2 (DEFB4). While 1,25(OH)₂D alone is sufficient for strong induction of CAMP expression, it seems that this is not the case in regard with DEFB4. Transcription of DEFB4 also depends on binding of NF- κ B to specific response elements within DEFB4 proximal promoter. 1,25(OH)₂D propagates the TLR-induced activation of the IL-1 β signaling pathway, which results in production and translocation of NF- κ B to its DEFB4 binding sites, thereby inducing the expression of DEFB4 in monocytes [33]. Consistent with these findings, studies have





found that isolated calcitriol had modest or even nonexistent effects on the expression of DEFB4; however, 1,25(OH)₂D enhanced the strong induction of DEFB4 by IL-1ß by twofold, indicating that calcitriol and IL-1B are both required for strong induction of DEFB4 [16, 39]. Nucleotidebinding oligomerization domain-containing protein 2 (NOD2) represents another class of pattern-recognition receptors. Activation of NOD2 by microbial antigens enhances the NF-κB-mediated expression of DEFB4 in humans. Interestingly, the gene encoding NOD2 harbors at least two VDREs; as such, 1,25(OH)₂D has been shown to strongly upregulate the expression of NOD2 in human myeloid and epithelial cells, thus indirectly stimulating DEFB4 induction [40]. Hepcidin – a protein known to modulate tissue distribution of iron via suppressing ferroportin-mediated export of intracellular iron - is another VitD-responsive AMP. Studies show that calcitriol inhibits the expression of hepcidin in hepatocytes and monocytes, thereby facilitating export of intracellular iron and decreasing its intracellular concentrations. As iron is vital for bacterial survival and proliferation, this effect provides protection against intracellular pathogens [41].

Upon induction by TLR2/1 signaling, VitD can directly exert its stimulatory effect on the production of AMPs. However, it should be noted that this pathway can be differentially influenced by T-cell cytokines as well. Studies show that IL-15 and the Th1 cytokine, IFN- γ , synergize with TLR2/1 ligands in inducing CYP27B1 activity and thus enhance the induction of CAMP and DEFB4 expression in macrophages, whereas the Th2 cytokine, IL-4, promotes the activity of CYP24A1, which catalyzes vitamin D to an inactive metabolite, and strongly suppresses the vitamin D-mediated induction of CAMP and DEFB4 [42]. These findings suggest a link between innate and adaptive immune responses through the immunomodulatory function of VitD, although the exact implications of this are not yet understood.

Interestingly, although TLR activation upregulates the production of calcitriol through inducing CYP28B1, calcitriol has been shown to inhibit the expression of TLRs in a time- and dose-dependent fashion, thus forming a classic negative feedback mechanism [43]. Regulation of TLR expression by 1,25(OH)₂D may be mediated through downregulation of miR155, which subsequently stimulates SOCS1 [44]. Moreover, calcitriol upregulates the expression of CYP24A1, the calcitriol inactivating enzyme. This phenomenon leads into decreased responsiveness to pathogen-induced molecular cascades, thus self-inhibiting excessive TLR activation and unresolved inflammation and tissue damage at further stages of infection [45].

There are other instances of VitD acting as an inducer of immunotolerance in the innate immune system. Although it is known that $1,25(OH)_2D$ stimulates the differentiation of monocytes into mature macrophages [46], studies suggest that calcitriol favors the polarization of macrophages into an anti-inflammatory M2 phenotype. The M2 phenotype is associated with the production of anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10, while M1 macrophages tend to propagate the inflammatory cascade through upregulation of pro-inflammatory mediators and promote Th1 and Th17 adaptive immune responses, aiming to recruit additional inflammatory cell types to the site of inflammation [47, 48]. Studies show that calcitriol suppresses the production of inflammatory mediators such as nitric oxide, TNF- α , IL-23, IL-12, IL-6, RANKL, COX-2, and IL-1β by macrophages [48]. Current evidence indicates that calcitriol exerts its anti-inflammatory effect on macrophages through downregulation of intracellular inflammatory signaling pathways (e.g., NF-KB and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways) that are activated through TLR signaling upon pathogen recognition and are responsible for transcription of proinflammatory cytokines and perpetuation of the inflammatory cascade. IκB-α is an inhibitory protein which suppresses NF-kB signaling via attaching to NF-kB subunits and preventing its nuclear translocation. Incubation of LPSstimulated macrophages, as well as respiratory epithelial cells with 1,25(OH)₂D, has been shown to upregulate $I\kappa B-\alpha$ levels, thereby inhibiting NF-kB signaling and its associated proinflammatory cytokines [49]. Similarly, the production of MKP-1 – an inhibitor of the MAPK pathway – has been shown to increase in response to calcitriol treatment of monocytes [48].

The regulatory role of calcitriol in the production of AMPs is not limited to the classical immune cell types and is common to many human tissues, thus protecting against a wide range of disease scenarios. Current evidence strongly supports upregulated expression of AMPs in respiratory and intestinal epithelial cells, keratinocytes, uroepithelium, placental trophoblasts, and decidual cells in response to both endocrine and TLR-induced autocrine 1,25(OH)₂D pathways; through which VitD contributes to the innate host response against pathogens at mucosal surfaces of the body [50-54]. In keratinocytes, calcitriol was shown to enhance TLR2/1 and CAMP expression, thus resulting in increased antimicrobial activity against Staphylococcus aureus [55]. Intestinal epithelial cells are constantly exposed to luminal bacteria and play a key role in innate immunity. Paneth cells – intestinal epithelial cells known to secrete antimicrobial peptides - have been found to be regulated by VDR. Moreover, studies in VDRnull mice demonstrated increased intestinal bacterial loads [52, 56]. 1,25(OH)₂D-mediated induction of CAMP expression in both placental trophoblasts and bronchial epithelial cells independent from TLR signaling has been observed, indicating a pivotal role for VitD in protection against infections during pregnancy and respiratory infections, respectively [51, 54]. Induction of cathelicidin production upon VitD treatment has been shown to enhance antibacterial activity against Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Bordetella bronchiseptica in bronchial epithelial cells of cystic fibrosis patients [54]. Interestingly, in biliary epithelial cells, expression of CAMP is regulated by bile acids through the VDR, indicating that VDR can function as a bile acid sensor [57, 58]. In addition to VitD-mediated upregulation of AMPs in epithelial cells throughout the body, the expression of VDR and CYP27B1 by epithelial cells suggests that VitD might also play a crucial role in physical barrier component of innate immunity through regulating epithelial intracellular functions. This notion is supported by the finding that calcitriol maintains barrier integrity through upregulating the expression of epithelial junctional proteins such as tight junctions (e.g., occludin), gap junctions (e.g., connexin 43), and adherens junctions (e.g., E-cadherin) [59, 60].

Effects of calcitriol on the innate immune sysextend beyond regulation of AMPs. tem 1,25(OH)₂D has been found to promote proliferation of monocytes and their differentiation into mature macrophages [46]. Maturation of phagosomes is enhanced by VitD, leading into an improved capacity for phagocytosis and autophagy [61]. Autophagy is the process of degrading intracellular engulfed material through phagolysosomal fusion and has been implicated as a mechanism enhancing antigen presentation in viral and bacterial infections. The strong induction of autophagy by VitD is of particular importance since it suggests that VitD might facilitate antigen presentation by monocytes and macrophages through inducing autophagy [62, 63]. VitD also stimulates chemoattraction of neutrophils and monocytes and induces production of the lysosomal enzyme acid phosphatase as well as reactive oxygen intermediates such as hydrogen peroxide [64, 65]. Aberrant maturation, phagocytosis, chemotaxis, and cytokine production have been detected in monocytes and macrophages of VitD-deficient subjects [66]. Finally, 1,25(OH)₂D has been found to strongly induce the expression of CD14, a TLR co-receptor critical for recognition of LPS by innate immune cells [39]. This effect provides the defense cells with the ability to rapidly sense and respond to pathogen-associated TLR ligands.

As cathelicidin is known to display antiviral effects, it is reasonable to assume that VitD is involved in host defense against viral infections as well. Studies have reported VitD-mediated inhibition of HIV replication in macrophages via induction of cathelicidin, possibly through enhanced autophagy and phagosomal maturation [67]. Cathelicidin induction by VitD may also enhance protection against influenza [68]. VitD-mediated induction of CAMP has been observed in lung epithelial cells following viral infection [69].

Fig. 2.3 VitD in adaptive immunity. MHC major histocompatibility complex, IL interleukin, Th T-helper, Treg regulatory T cell, IFN interferon, TNF tumor necrosis factor, TCR T-cell receptor, ILC innate lymphoid cell, Ig immunoglobulin

St		
Dendritic cell	T cell	B cell
 ↓ Maturation ↓ T-cell stimulation ↓ MHC class II ↓ CD40, CD80, & CD86 ↑ Tolerogenicity ↓ Antigen presentation ↓ IL-12, IL-23 ↑ IL-10 	 ↓ Proliferation ↓ Th1/Th17 polarization ↑ Th2/Treg activity ↓ IFN-γ,TNF-α, IL-2, IL-12, IL-17 ↑ IL-4, IL-10 ↑ TCR -mediated T-cell activation ↓ CD8+ T-cell cytotoxicity ↓ TCRyδ & Group III ILC activity ↑ invariant Natural Killer T-cells 	 ↓ Proliferation ↓ Class-switching ↓ Memory & Plasma cells ↓ Ig production ↑ IL-10 ↓ T-cell stimulation ↓ Antigen presentation

The discussed studies highlight the crucial function of VitD as a stimulant of innate immunity with broad-reaching antimicrobial effects on several immune and immune-related cell types. In light of these findings, and considering the growing prevalence of antibiotic-resistant infections, strategies that are able to boost antimicrobial effects of VitD represent novel approaches of improving innate immunity to infection. Histone deacetylase inhibitors such as butyrate have been observed to enhance VitD-mediated induction of cathelicidin production [70] and therefore are promising candidates for treating infections.

VitD and Dendritic Cells

Dendritic cells (DCs) are the bridge between the innate and adaptive arms of the immune response. DCs are the most potent antigen-presenting cell (APC) within the immune system. They intercept and process foreign antigens and present them as peptides to T and B cells. Through spreading immunogenic or tolerogenic signals, DCs program the polarization and differentiation of lymphocytes into adequate effector cell types and thus initiate and modulate the adaptive immune response.

DCs are important targets for immunoregulatory effects of VitD (Fig. 2.3). They express both VDR and CYP27B1 and therefore can accumulate relevant local concentrations of

1,25(OH)₂D. Current evidence strongly suggests that calcitriol promotes immune tolerance in the adaptive immune system via alteration of DC function and morphology to a tolerogenic, immature state [71, 72]. Both 25(OH)D and 1,25(OH)₂D are shown to block maturation and immunostimulatory capacity of DCs and preserve a hyporesponsive tolerogenic DC phenotype characterized by reduced expression of antigen-presenting molecules MHC class II as well as co-stimulatory molecules (e.g., CD40, CD80, CD86). Tolerogenic DCs are relatively resistant to maturation, manifest reduced antigen presentation activity, and are poor inducers of CD4⁺ T-cell function [73–76]. In contrast, they enhance the activity of regulatory T cells (Tregs) [77], which are critical for controlling the immune response and mediating immune tolerance. Moreover, tolerogenic DCs also stimulate apoptosis of autoreactive T cells [78].

Interestingly, DCs express higher levels of CYP27B1 and lower levels of VDR during maturation into APCs [79, 80]. In view of suppressive effect of calcitriol on DC function, both these effects are thought to prevent from overstimulation of mature DCs and potential aberrant immune responses. Moreover, the paradox between upregulation of calcitriol production and downregulation of VDR expression in mature DCs has been speculated to indicate that the calcitriol synthesized by mature DCs is utilized in paracrine regulation of immature VDR-expressing DCs.

The tolerogenic effect of calcitriol on DCs was confirmed when it was shown that VDR and CYP27B1 knockout mice present with significantly increased numbers of mature DCs and manifest lymphatic abnormalities consistent with abnormal DC trafficking [81]. Moreover, treatment of DCs with calcitriol was found to repress the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-12 and TNF- α , which are known to drive Th1/Th17 T-cell responses. Instead, it increased the production of the tolerogenic Treg-promoting cytokine, IL-10 [72, 73]. Inhibition of IL-12 production by calcitriol is not only because of the explained altered differentiation of DCs but also arises from the direct effect of calcitriol on transcription of IL-12. The 1,25(OH)₂D-VDR-RXR complex is known to bind to specific binding sites of NF-kB in the promoter of IL-12 gene and thereby prevents the NF-kB-mediated activation of IL-12 transcription [75]. 1,25(OH)₂D was shown to inhibit differentiation of monocytes into DCs in vitro [76].

The VitD-induced inhibition of DC maturation and promotion of tolerogenic DC response has introduced the concept that low VitD status might be associated with an increased risk for autoimmunity. It is known that antigen presentation by immature DCs facilitates immune tolerance, while antigen presentation by mature DCs conveys more immunogenicity. In the normal state, immature DCs are predominantly responsible for the presentation of self-antigens so as to maintain self-tolerance. The role of VitD in autoimmunity is further discussed in the sections that follow.

VitD and Adaptive Immunity

T Cells

T cells are traditionally divided into distinct subpopulations. CD4⁺ T-helper (Th) cells are responsible for regulation of T- and B-cell responses. Under the influence of APCs and many other immunomodulators, naïve Th cells are polarized into functionally distinct subsets including Th1, Th2, and Th17 cells. Each subset initiates a distinct pattern of immune response through secretion of a specific profile of inflammatory cytokines. CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells are responsible for direct cellular defense against target cells including tumoral and virus-infected cells. The regulatory Th cells (Tregs) are part of the machinery responsible for maintenance of immune selftolerance and are crucial for controlling overexuberant immune responses through downregulating the activity of macrophages, DCs, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ T cells and producing antiinflammatory cytokines.

T cells express the 1- α hydroxylase enzyme CYP27B1 and upregulate CYP27B1 expression upon activation. Although resting memory and naïve T cells express very low levels of VDR, expression of VDR is remarkably upregulated upon activation of the T-cell receptor (TCR) signaling and correlates with the level of T-cell stimulation [82, 83]. VitD is a potent modulator of adaptive immune response and has a part in shaping B- and T-cell immune responses (Fig. 2.3). It has been suggested that VitD affects the function of T cells through four potential mechanisms: 1) endocrine effects mediated by circulating calcitriol synthesized by the kidneys, 2) autocrine effects mediated by calcitriol synthesized by T cells, 3) paracrine effects mediated by calcitriol synthesized by the neighboring monocytes and DCs, and 4) indirect modulation of T-cell differentiation and function via regulation of DCs.

The influence of calcitriol on differential activation and polarization of Th subsets has been extensively studied, and Th cells appear to be the principal target for VitD. VitD inhibits Th cell proliferation and differentiation and modulates their cytokine production pattern [84]. Both antigen- and IL-2-induced proliferation of CD4+ and CD8⁺ memory T cells have been shown to be directly inhibited by 1,25(OH)₂D [85]. Calcitriol is thought to exert its inhibitory effects on the CD4⁺ T-cell response through suppression of both DC maturation and antigen presentation, and also direct effects on the VDR of T cells. However, the extent of the contribution of each mechanism is not yet clear. 1,25(OH)₂D signaling is known to diminish the Th1 response, as evidenced by VitD-mediated inhibition of key Th1 pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IFN-γ,

TNF- α , IL-2, IL-6, IL-8, IL-9, IL-12, and IL-22. In contrast, calcitriol stimulates Th2 response and upregulates secretion of Th2-associated cytokines such as IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, and IL-10 [86–89]. As excessive skewing of the Th response toward the Th1 phenotype has been implicated in pathogenesis of autoimmunity, effects of VitD on the Th subsets are thought to maintain the Th1/Th2 balance and prevent from aberrant autoimmune responses.

Evidence links activation of IL-17-producing Th17 cells to the pathogenesis of autoimmune disorders [90]. Activation of Th17 cells and overexpression of IL-17 have been found to play a key role in mediating murine models of autoimmune diseases including experimental autoimmune encephalitis (EAE) and inflammatory arthritis, as well as human rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and systemic lupus erythematous (SLE) [91–94]. 1,25(OH)₂D directly suppresses the production of IL-17 on a transcriptional level [94]. Calcitriol treatment of activated human T cells results in significantly reduced levels of IL-17, IFN- γ , and IL-21 production [95]. Decreased IL-17 levels have also been reported in autoimmune disease-susceptible nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice following VitD treatment [96]. CD4⁺ T cells of VDR-knockout mice secrete higher levels of IFN- γ and IL-17 compared with those of wildtype mice [86]. CYP27B1-knockout mice have also been detected with increased levels of IL-17 production in proximal and distal colon, which was associated with weight loss and colitis [52]. Calcitriol represses differentiation and activation of Th17 cells through suppression of Th17related cytokines and transcription factors such as IL-17A, IL17F, IL-21, RORC, and CCR6 [88, 97]. 1,25(OH)₂D-exposed Th17 cells are less likely to activate synovial fibroblasts and to mediate EAE [94, 98], and VitD treatment has been found to suppress murine retinal autoimmunity following decreased Th17 activity [99].

Although the exact mechanisms involved in regulation of Th1 and Th2 immune responses by VitD are yet not clear, available evidence indicates direct calcitriol/VDR-driven effects at a transcriptional level. Studies have reported direct calcitriol-induced inhibition of IL-2 transcription through blocking NFAT/AP-1 complex formation via binding of the calcitriol-VDR-RXR complex to the NFAT element in the IL-2 promoter [100]. Upregulation of the NF- κ B inhibitory protein IkB- α and the Th2-promoting transcription factor GATA3 following 1,25(OH)₂D treatment have also been documented [7, 101]. Direct binding of calcitriol-VDR-RXR complex to a silencer VDRE in the promoter of IFN- γ gene has been suggested as the potential mechanism of suppression of IFN- γ secretion by calcitriol [102]. Regarding inhibition of IL-17 production, several mechanisms have been proposed, including blocking NFAT and Runx1 binding to the IL-17 promoter possibly via induction of Foxp3, inhibiting the Th17-polarizing transcription factor RORvt, and inhibiting Smad7 transcription [76, 94, 103].

Tregs are the tolerogenic subset of CD4⁺ T cells characterized by expression of the inhibitory co-receptor CTLA4 and regulated by the transcription factor FoxP3. The function of Tregs is critical for prevention of autoreactivity and exaggerated immune responses. Subjects with FoxP3 mutations suffer from the IPEX syndrome characterized by a plethora of autoimmune disorders [104]. We previously noted that, through induction of tolerogenic DCs, VitD stimulates the function of Tregs. However, VitD is also known to directly stimulate the differentiation and activation of Tregs at a transcriptional level. The FoxP3 gene promoter region is known to harbor at least one VDRE, and calcitriol directly upregulates FoxP3 expression [105]. Various studies have confirmed that both 25(OH)D and 1,25(OH)₂D enhance generation of CTLA4⁺ and FoxP3⁺ IL-10-secreting Tregs [95, 106]. Adding a combination of calcitriol and IL-2 to human primary T-cell cultures resulted in promoted expression of genes characteristic for Tregs. In mice treated with either 1,25(OH)₂D or UVB radiation, Tregs that originated from draining lymph nodes were more effective in suppressing antigen-specific immune responses and production of autoantibodies upon adoptive transfer into untreated mice [107, 108]. Furthermore, calcitriol augments expression of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) enzyme, which is known to expand the Treg population [109].

Our current understanding of the role of VitD in modulation of T-cell functions mostly stems from mechanistic studies that have focused primarily on the response of these cells to $1,25(OH)_2D$ treatment in vitro. However, how variations in VitD status affect the function of different T-cell subsets is less clear. There are a few reports linking VitD serum levels with specific T-cell subpopulations. For instance, 25(OH)D serum levels have been shown to correlate with Treg immunosuppressive capacity in patients with multiple sclerosis [110]. Furthermore, VitD supplementation was shown to significantly increase circulating Treg cell numbers in both renal transplant recipients and healthy subjects [111, 112].

Studies conducted in VDR-knockout mice have also provided some insight into the role of VitD in T-cell immune response. It is known that calcitriol suppresses T-cell proliferation and restricts Th1/Th17 differentiation. These effects might promote immune tolerance and prevent autoimmunity, which is in line with clinical findings that have correlated VitD deficiency with a higher incidence of autoimmune disorders. However, as Th1/Th17 responses are important to mount effective immune response during infections, calcitriol would be expected to have detrimental effects on host defense against certain pathogens. However, VDR-knockout mice did not manifest decreased or increased susceptibility to infections that require Th1/ Th17-mediated immune response, including Listeria monocytogenes, Leishmania major, Mycobacterium bovis, Mycobacterium tuberculosis, Candida albicans, Herpes simplex, Schistosoma mansoni, and Bordetella pertussis [113]. More strikingly, human epidemiologic studies have linked VitD deficiency with higher risk of infection. Although there is still no generally approved explanation for this paradox, the contradictory effect of VitD on innate and adaptive immune responses is a possible explanation. Calcitriol strengthens the innate host defense while modulating the adaptive response to a more tolerant state to limit excessive inflam-

mation. Moreover, increased susceptibility to infection in VitD deficiency could be explained by the recent findings describing the crucial role of calcitriol in TCR-mediated activation of naïve T cells. During the initiation of naïve T-cell response, engagement of TCR by the antigen results in p38 MAPK-dependent stimulation of VDR, which is required for induction of phospholipase C-y1 (PLC-y1). PLC-y1 is a cofactor of the classical TCR signaling pathway and essential to subsequent TCR signaling and full T-cell activation [114]. The expression level of VDR in naïve CD4⁺ is shown to correlate with the degree of T-cell activation [115], although some have proposed that calcitriol might affect T-cell activation via direct modulation of the TCR [116]. Additionally, VitD might play a role in promotion of lymphocyte migration and trafficking, as 25(OH)D and 1,25(OH)₂D treatment of naïve and effector T cells has been found to upregulate expression of CCR10 and CCR5 in vitro [117].

It is interesting to note that in line with all other effects of VitD on the function of T cells, regulation of TCR-mediated T-cell activation by VitD is also tailored to minimize the risk of overstimulation of the T-cell-driven immune response. Studies show that there is an approximate 48-hour delay between initial TCR stimulation by the antigens and full induction of PLC-y1 by calcitriol. In case the innate host defense manages to adequately control the infection during this lag period, then limited concentrations of antigen would coincide with the onset of T-cell proliferatory response afterward, thus providing a relatively uninflammatory microenvironment and preventing from an explosive acquired immune response. However, in case the innate response is inadequate in controlling the invading pathogens during the lag period, then elevated concentrations of antigen will boost a more aggressive adaptive response [95].

Besides CD4⁺ Th cells, calcitriol seems to modulate the function of several other T-cell subpopulations as well. Compared to CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells express even higher levels of VDR. Calcitriol suppresses the generation and activity of CD8⁺ T cells and production of IFN- γ and TNF- α by these cells [118]. VDR-null mice exhibit increased numbers of CD8+ T cells [118]. Furthermore, calcitriol inhibits IFN- γ secretion by unconventional TCRy8 T cells [119]. Both CD8⁺ T cells and TCR $\gamma\delta$ T cells have been implicated to play a role in autoimmune disorders including multiple sclerosis (MS), inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), and psoriatic arthritis [120]. It has also been suggested that VitD contributes to maturation and function of invariant natural killer T cells (iNKTs). as VDR-knockout mice are found to develop functionally immature iNKTs that are hyporesponsive to TCR stimulation [121]. Finally, increased levels of group 3 innate lymphoid cells - which has been reported in various autoimmune conditions including psoriasis, Crohn's disease, and MS - have been detected in VDR-knockout mice [89, 122].

Taken together, VitD shifts the adaptive immune response from a pro-inflammatory to a more tolerogenic status, through maintaining the Th1/Th2 balance, downregulating the Th17 immune response, stimulating Treg activity, and modulating TCR signaling. This effect is consistent with the tolerogenic effect of calcitriol on the DCs.

B Cells

In line with its role in modulation of DCs and T-cell response, VitD suppresses the function of B lymphocytes and favors a self-tolerant B-cell response. B cells constitutively express CYP28B1 and VDR and upregulate both upon activation. VitD affects several aspects of B-cell homeostasis both indirectly via modulation of the T-helper immune response and directly via intracrine effects in the VDR-expressing B cells.

Calcitriol directly inhibits ongoing proliferation of B cells. As a result, VitD suppresses the generation of class-switched memory B cells from naïve B cells [123] and differentiation of B cells into plasma cells through directly blocking NF- κ B activity downstream to CD40 activation [124]. Apoptosis of immunoglobulin-producing B cells is enhanced through direct effect of calcitriol [125]. VitD directly inhibits immunoglobulin class switching and production of antibodies by B cells [126]. VDR-null mice exhibit enhanced levels of IgE production [127]. These findings are clinically important as they lend support for the potential role of VitD deficiency in pathogenesis of antibody-mediated autoimmune disorders as well as various B-cell-associated disease conditions such as IgE-mediated asthma and other allergic disorders.

Regulation of other immune cells via secretion of cytokines and expression of surface proteins is another contribution of B cells to the immune system. Calcitriol enhances secretion of the antiinflammatory cytokine IL-10 by B cells as it directly binds to a silencer VDRE in IL-10 gene promoter [128], thus suggesting a protective role for VitD in allergic immune responses. VitD downregulates the expression of CD86 on B cells, which results in reduced stimulation of T cells [129]. B cells can also act as APCs. 1,25(OH)₂D is shown to repress the expression of CD74 on B cells, which subsequently inhibits the assembly and surface exposure of MHC-II molecules [130].

VitD Status and Disease

As summarized in the preceding section, VitD is a key regulator of immune functions, with widespread influence on both innate and adaptive immunity. VitD potentiates the innate immune response not only in classic immune and inflammatory cell types but also in a variety of immunerelated tissues throughout the body. Calcitriol also modulates the adaptive response toward a more self-tolerant and balanced phenotype. These effects are mediated by the circulating calcitriol, as well as the calcitriol synthesized by CYP27B1expressing immune cells and their neighboring cells from circulating 25(OH)D, acting via autocrine and paracrine mechanisms. Normal effects of VitD on target cells require a threshold level of VDR engagement by 1,25(OH)₂D and thereby depend on availability of sufficient levels of circulating 25(OH)D and 1,25(OH)₂D. Based on these facts, it could be speculated that VitD status of an individual affects VitD-dependent immune functions; in other words, VitD-deficient subjects might be prone to various immune-related

pathologic conditions including autoimmune, inflammatory, and infectious disorders. In this section, we highlight examples of human studies that aimed to explore the role of VitD status in selected diseases. These studies can be categorized into two groups. First are epidemiologic studies that try to correlate VitD deficiency with prevalence or incidence of certain disease states. Second are interventional studies that have investigated the effect of VitD supplementation on incidence or severity of diseases.

Before embarking on this part of the chapter, it is important to recognize that clinical investigation of the role of VitD in human health and disease is not without challenges and limitations. First, it should be noted that clinical extrapolation of the mechanistic evidence outlined above, which in part derives from study of animal models, should be performed with caution, as involvement of VitD in regulation of many immune pathways is species-specific. For instance, the array of genes encoding AMPs and their VDREs, as well as cytokines and chemokines, and TLRs involved in innate immune system varies greatly among species [131, 132]. Moreover, when interpreting data from in vitro studies using cell cultures, it should be kept in mind that these studies involve the use of exogenous calcitriol in higher concentrations than physiological circulating range.

Moreover, many clinical studies that have addressed the role of VitD status in disease states are of cross-sectional or retrospective design. Another concern is to abstain from establishing causal relationships based largely (or entirely) on the results of these "association" studies. VitD deficiency and impaired extrarenal activity of VitD have been described as a consequence of several pathologic conditions, therefore detecting an association between VitD deficiency and prevalence or severity of a disease does not necessarily provide evidence for the role of VitD deficiency as an etiologic factor. However, the growing number of prospective controlled studies (e.g., large cohort studies and interventional trials) have shed new light on our understanding of this association.

While one would hope that randomized controlled trials (RCTs) on the actual effects of VitD

administration on disease incidence or severity parameters would provide solid answers, they have produced mixed and sometimes conflicting results. Diverse reasons might have contributed to the negative outcomes. In many cases, RCTs with negative results have either not documented the baseline VitD status of the treated population or the effectiveness of VitD supplementation regimen in raising VitD levels. Thus, these studies failed to direct the intervention to subgroups of participants who might actually benefit from treatment; the possible inclusion of already VitD-replete subjects would weaken the overall treatment effect. However, in this regard, there is a discrepancy in definition of VitD deficiency or sufficiency thresholds between various medical organizations. In addition to the available VitD status classifications being inconsistent, the groupings are based on bone health endpoints (especially bone mineral density) and ignore extra-skeletal tissue-specific VitD requirements. For example, it has been shown that up to the 75 nmol/l (30 ng/ml) concentration, the serum 25(OH)D levels correlate with serum PTH levels as well as intestinal calcium uptake, thus suggesting this threshold as a potentially relevant indicator of sufficient VitD status in regard with bone and mineral homeostasis [133, 134]. However, a certain level of VitD that is deemed to provide normal bone and mineral homeostasis does not necessarily fully satisfy the physiologic needs of other VitDdependent body systems, including the immune system. Therefore, the target VitD level that is required to maintain optimal VitD physiological actions in all aspects of human health is unascertained and should be clearly defined and validated through well-designed studies examining nonbone endpoints. Otherwise, it will not be feasible to determine the optimal dosage, frequency, duration, and mode of supplementation for various disease conditions and different severities of deficiency. However, the fact that multiple individual factors such as lifestyle, clothing, skin health, skin pigmentation, and age contribute to the amount of endogenous VitD synthesis and subsequently circulating 25(OH)D levels further complicates the possibility of tailoring general recommendations for VitD supplementation without the use of complex risk stratification tools.

VitD supplements are easily accessible over the counter. VitD-fortified products are also available in many countries. Moreover, VitD is synthesized in the skin constantly albeit in variable quantities according to season, clothing, lifestyle, etc. Natural dietary sources of VitD, although limited, are also at hand. Therefore, another issue that complicates clinical trials of VitD is the possibility of improvements in VitD levels of the control group, which could mask the treatment effects.

Virtually all human studies have used the serum concentrations of the precursor 25(OH) D as the determinant of VitD status of an individual. However, it is known that the active metabolite 1,25(OH)₂D is responsible for physiologic functions of VitD. Calcitriol is available in minute amounts in circulation and has a short half-life. Moreover, immunomodulatory effects of VitD are largely dependent on autocrine and paracrine pathways of calcitriol synthesis and metabolism, which are localized to the target tissues. Given the complexity of VitD metabolism (Fig. 2.1), which involves endocrine as well as intracrine and paracrine regulation, some argue that circulating 25(OH)D concentrations may not adequately reflect local tissue VitD availability. One potential future perspective is the measurement of concentrations of "free" or non-DBP-bound (i.e., free plus albumin-bound) VitD metabolites in addition to total serum levels, as target cells seem to be more responsive to the non-DBP-bound metabolites. This strategy has already been corroborated in studies of skeletal effects of VitD in healthy subjects, where free 25(OH)D levels were shown to better correlate with bone mineral density as compared to total 25(OH)D concentrations [135]. While free VitD levels can be estimated using total 25(OH) D, DBP, and albumin levels, novel laboratory techniques are making direct measurement of free 25(OH)D levels feasible as well. Moreover, as will be discussed later in the chapter, recent studies have introduced the concept that there are factors besides serum 25(OH)D levels that might influence the extent of VitD biological effects. For instance, genetic polymorphisms in the proteins, enzymes, and receptors involved

in VitD metabolism have been shown to affect VitD's functional bioavailability. In conclusion, the use of novel indicators of VitD status which can reflect the actual end-organ bioavailability of calcitriol at the target tissues can result in more accurate identification of VitD-deficient subjects to whom the therapeutic intervention should be directed and provide an enhanced prediction of treatment response. Ideally, these future biomarkers should incorporate inherited genetic variations that affect VitD functionality irrespective of serum 25(OH)D levels, thus introducing the concept of patient-specific target VitD status, consistent with the goals of personalized medicine. In this regard, large-scale microarray analysis and ChiP sequencing studies are in development [136, 137].

Autoimmune Conditions

As described above, VitD is a tolerogenic immunomodulator and regulates several immune cell types involved in prevention or propagation of autoimmunity. It suppresses maturation and antigen presentation of DCs and promotes the development of tolerogenic DCs. VitD suppresses/ diminishes both Th1 and Th17 responses, both strongly indicated in the pathogenesis of autoimmunity. It also stimulates activity of Tregs and coordinates TCR activation of naïve T cells to prevent an overexuberant T-cell response. VitD also suppresses CD8+ T cells and inhibits the production of autoantibodies by class-switched B cells. Moreover, although an inducer of innate immunity, calcitriol inhibits expression of TLRs through a negative feedback mechanism and represses the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines by monocytes and macrophages, thus preventing from an exaggerated innate defense. Collectively, these findings strongly implicate that sufficient 25(OH)D levels are essential for preserving normal immune homeostasis and VitD deficiency might contribute to development of autoimmune disorders in genetically susceptible individuals. VitD deficiency is highly common among patients with autoimmune disorders [21]. Interestingly, VDREs have been identified in

close proximity to several single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) that have been associated with various autoimmune diseases [138]. Many studies have addressed the potential role of VitD deficiency in major autoimmune conditions.

Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus (T1DM)

T1DM is mainly characterized by infiltration of cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells into the pancreatic Langerhans islets and associated destruction of the insulin-producing β cells. This is an IL-12dependent process regulated by the Th1 response. We previously noted that VitD suppresses both Th1 and CD8+ cells. Treatment of nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice - an animal model for human T1DM – with a calcitriol analog suppressed pancreatic infiltration of Th1 cells and production of IL-12 while expanding the population of Tregs pancreatic lymph nodes [139, 140]. in VitD-deficient mice, in contrast to VitDsupplemented mice, demonstrate earlier onset and higher occurrence of insulitis and diabetes in early life [141, 142].

Observational data suggest a correlation between VitD deficiency and T1DM [143, 144]. Studies have described a seasonal pattern for incidence of T1DM, which has been found to be higher during winter compared with summer, implying the potential effect of sunlight exposure and hence the protective role of endogenous synthesis of VitD [145, 146]. Compared to healthy individuals, serum 25(OH)D levels were significantly lower in T1DM patients at the time of diagnosis [144]. Incidence of T1DM was found to be three times higher in children with suspected rickets, compared to VitD-sufficient controls [147].

Studies of VitD supplementation provide results in favor of a protective effect of VitD against the development of T1DM in children. Two case-control studies revealed that vitamin D supplementation or cod liver oil intake during infancy significantly decreased the risk of developing T1DM [148, 149]. Two birth cohort studies also reported that VitD supplementation during the first year of life could reduce the incidence of T1DM by 33% and 80% [147, 148]. A metaanalysis of four large trials confirmed a significantly reduced risk of T1DM development in

VitD supplemented infants (pooled odds ratio = 0.71) [150]. VitD treatment of pregnant women whose offspring were at risk of developing T1DM decreased the risk of developing islet autoantibodies in their children, thus marking the effect of in utero exposure to VitD on incidence of pancreatic autoimmunity [151]. However, VitD supplementation studies in adults have produced mixed results. While two supplementation studies did not show any beneficial effects [152, 153], a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled clinical trial recently reported recovery of β -cell function following supplementation of 38 T1DM patients with 2000 IU of cholecalciferol for 18 months [154]. These inconsistent results might arise from the relative irreversibility of β -cell destruction. A protective effect of VitD in adult T1DM patients was only detected when the disease duration was less than 1 year [155]. In conjunction with the promising results in children, current studies suggest that VitD supplementation is most beneficial when administered early in the disease pathogenesis.

Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE)

SLE is an antibody-mediated autoimmune disease. As discussed above, VitD suppresses differentiation and autoantibody production by B cells. Calcitriol treatment has been shown to reduce the severity of SLE in MRL/1 mice [156]. B cells extracted from active SLE patients manifest a significantly reduced spontaneous and stimulated polyclonal antibody production as well as up to 60% reduction in spontaneous anti-dsDNA autoantibody production when preincubated with calcitriol [157]. Interferon signature – i.e., the characteristic overexpression of IFNa-inducible genes in peripheral blood mononuclear cells – is observed in about 50% of SLE patients and correlates with disease severity [158, 159]. In SLE subjects, VitD deficiency is shown to be associated with the interferon signature, the risk of which can be lowered by 2.1-fold through VitD supplementation [160].

Cross-sectional studies have reported lower 25(OH)D levels in SLE patients in comparison with the normal population [161–163]. Nevertheless, VitD supplementation studies have

reported inconclusive results. A prospective study failed to detect any difference in the incidence of SLE between VitD-supplemented and control groups [164]. In healthy subjects, VitD deficiency was correlated with the presence of lupus autoantibodies, the concentrations of which decreased following VitD supplementation [165].

Another group of studies have evaluated the association between VitD levels and disease activity in SLE patients and have again obtained mixed results. While some have failed to correlate VitD deficiency with SLE flare-up [166, 167], others have found an inverse correlation between serum 25(OH)D levels and disease activity, proteinuria, and pro-inflammatory cytokine production [168, 169]. For instance, in children with juvenile SLE, lower serum 25(OH)D levels were associated with a higher disease activity [170]. An important interventional study reported improved disease activity score and fatigue as well as decreased autoantibody levels in 158 VitD-treated SLE patients compared with 89 placebo-treated SLE subjects [171].

In summary, although most epidemiologic studies have linked VitD deficiency with higher SLE prevalence or disease activity, a causal relationship between VitD status and SLE incidence or severity could not be established on this basis. For example, hypovitaminosis D might be a consequence of SLE patients' avoidance of sunlight exposure due to their photosensitivity. On the other hand, prospective controlled evidence currently available is both limited and inconclusive; hence, more well-designed studies are needed to settle this controversy.

Multiple Sclerosis (MS)

MS is an autoimmune disease involving T-cellmediated inflammation of the central nervous system (CNS). VitD treatment of murine models of MS (EAE) has been effective in prevention of disease onset and reversal of paralysis in animals with ongoing disease [172]. Calcitriol treatment prevents CD4⁺ T-cell proliferation and migration into the CNS and leads into decreased number of active Th17 cells within the CNS and their downregulated production of IL-17 and IFN-γ [173]. As mentioned earlier, human 25(OH)D levels directly correlate with Treg numbers and activity. Through a negative feedback mechanism, calcitriol reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine production in brain pericytes, thus preventing excessive neural inflammation [174]. Recent studies have detected upregulated expression of VDR and CYP27B1 within the chronic active MS brain lesions compared to healthy brain tissue, suggesting a potential endogenous role for VitD in suppression of active MS lesions [175].

Epidemiological evidence strongly supports a link between VitD deficiency and development of MS [176, 177]. Subjects living at latitudes below 35° during the first 10 years of life reveal a 50% reduction in the risk of MS [178]. Risk of MS decreases by 41% for every 20 ng/ml increase of 25(OH)D levels above 24 ng/ml [176]. Women with high VitD intakes are 40% less likely to develop MS [179]. Furthermore, MS patients who are in remission have significantly higher VitD levels compared to relapsed patients [180]. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)-determined MS disease activity was lower in VitD-sufficient MS patients [181]. IFN- β therapy of VitDsufficient MS patients is associated with a lower relapse rate compared to that of VitD-deficient patients [182].

Similar to other autoimmune disorders, VitD supplementation studies in MS have produced mixed results. VitD supplementation with more than 400 IU per day decreased the risk of developing MS by 42% [179]. Cholecalciferol supplementation of MS patients improved the Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS), reduced MRI lesions and relapse rate, and increased functionality [183, 184]. These effects were more pronounced when VitD was used as an add-on therapy to IFN- β [184]. Interestingly, VitD administration has also been shown to limit progression of pre-MS conditions like optic neuritis to MS [185]. However, some recent trials did not find any beneficial effect of VitD treatment on disease activity of MS subjects [186, 187]. Two recent randomized placebo-controlled trials reported that VitD supplementation had no beneficial effects on brain MRI lesions, relapse rates, EDSS, or MS functional composite [187, 188].

Chronic Inflammatory Disorders

Asthma

Asthma is a chronic inflammatory disease of the airways, characterized by bronchial infiltration and inflammation, airway hyperresponsiveness, and reversible airway obstruction. Multiple studies have elucidated the beneficial effects of calcitriol on the cell types and disease processes involved in pathogenesis of asthma. Inhaled and systemic corticosteroids represent the current first-line therapy for chronic asthma and asthma exacerbations, respectively. Broad immunosuppressive effects of steroids target both proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory immune components alike. Dexamethasone is known to impair the activity of Tregs and their production of the anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10, in steroidresistant asthma patients. Coadministration of calcitriol and dexamethasone is shown to restore the Treg-mediated IL-10 response and reverse steroid resistance in CD4+ T cells of steroid-resistant asthmatic patients [189]. We also previously noted that calcitriol inhibits pro-inflammatory cytokine production by innate immune cells and various nonimmune cell types. In asthma, studies have revealed that calcitriol inhibits cytokine production and migration of mast cells, neutrophils, and eosinophils and reduces production of cytokines, matrix metalloproteases, and mucus by airway smooth muscle cells, all leading into decreased airway hyperresponsiveness, inflammation, and remodeling [190–192]. Finally, as mentioned before, calcitriol upregulates the expression of MKP-1, a crucial inhibitor of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling pathway, which is implicated in the pathogenesis of steroid resistance in asthma [193].

Most epidemiologic studies suggest an association between VitD deficiency and either the development or severity of asthma. Low maternal VitD intake (and presumably low VitD status) during pregnancy was associated with wheezing in offspring [194]. VitD-deficient children are prone to increased risk for developing asthmarelated illnesses (e.g., recurrent wheezing) and experience more severe symptoms, more frequent exacerbations, and reduced lung function [195], whereas higher serum 25(OH)D levels are associated with improved asthma control in VitDsufficient children [196]. A recent meta-analysis of 16 birth cohort studies reported that maternal cord or peripheral blood 25(OH)D levels inversely correlate with risk of wheezing illnesses and possibly asthma in offspring [197]. Low 25(OH)D levels in adult asthmatic patients are associated with severe or uncontrolled asthma and a greater decline in lung function [198, 199] and constitute a significant predictor of all-cause mortality [200]. Nevertheless, many epidemiologic studies have reported no association between VitD status and asthma development and severity [201–203]. For instance, a nested casecontrol study including 584 adult new-onset asthma patients indicated that low VitD status was not associated with incident of asthma [204]. In other studies, low cord blood 25(OH)D level did not correlate with development of physiciandiagnosed asthma in children by the age of 5 years, in either the United States [205] or New Zealand [206]; however, the latter study did find a strong inverse association between cord blood 25(OH)D level and risk of recurrent wheezing. These findings highlight the distinction between acute respiratory infections (with associated, nonspecific "wheezing") and the onset of actual asthma, a diagnosis that is generally not possible until the child reaches at least 5 years of age. Studies purporting to prevent "asthma" during infancy or early childhood are more likely preventing serial respiratory infections, as compared to actual asthma.

Regardless of asthma pathogenesis, VitD appears to have a salutary role among patients with asthma. Available evidence indicates that supplementation of VitD-deficient asthmatic patients has encouraging effects on improving disease control and ameliorating symptoms [207]. Several trials demonstrated reduced asthma symptoms and respiratory infections in VitD-treated asthmatic children with low 25(OH) D levels [208]. Two meta-analysis studies pooled RCTs of high-dose VitD in pediatric asthma patients and reported a significant reduction in asthma exacerbations (relative risk = 0.41 in both studies) after VitD therapy [209, 210]. However, no significant effects on lung function or symptom scores were detected [210]. Moreover, although recent RCTs of VitD supplementation of pregnant women showed no statistically significant effect on incidence of wheezing episodes or early "asthma" in their offspring [211-213], VitD supplementation of pregnant women and then their infants until 6 months of age significantly reduced the proportion of children sensitized to aeroallergens at age 18 months and the number of primary care visits due to asthma in the treatment group (p = 0.002) [214]. A meta-analysis of 3 RCTs showed a reduced risk of offspring wheezing when mothers were supplemented with VitD during pregnancy (relative risk = 0.81, p = 0.025) [215]. In adult VitD-deficient asthma patients, VitD treatment appeared to reduce asthma exacerbations only in patients with low 25(OH)D levels but had no significant effect on the general study population [216]. A recent meta-analysis of 7 randomized controlled trials (955 participants) revealed that VitD supplementation significantly reduced the rate of asthma exacerbations requiring treatment with systemic corticosteroids compared to placebo (incidence rate ratio = 0.74, p = 0.03). This effect was not detected in the subgroup of patients who had serum 25(OH)D levels of 25 nmol/L or higher at baseline [217].

Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD)

IBDs, including Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis, are chronic inflammatory conditions of the gastrointestinal tract likely arising from a disrupted handling of the antigens present in the gastrointestinal tract by the epithelium and innate immune cells, which leads to a chronic T-cell-mediated infiltration and inflammation of the mucosa. VitD-deficient wild-type mice and VDR- or CYP27B1-knockout mice are more susceptible to experimentally induced colitis and develop more severe symptoms of IBD [52, 56, 218, 219]. Calcitriol treatment of wild-type mice with colitis is associated with a reduced mucosal inflammation accompanied by decreased production of IL-17, TNF- α , and IFN- γ [219]. As discussed earlier, among other tolerogenic effects, VitD suppresses Th1 and Th17 responses and induces Th2 and Treg activity; effects of

calcitriol on the innate immune response and intestinal epithelial cells also contribute to its beneficial effects in IBD. VDR-knockout transgenic (VDR-KO/TG) mice that exclusively express VDR in intestinal epithelial cells of the distal ileum and colon display a milder form of colitis and reduced weight loss compared to VDR-knockout mice. Moreover, similar to wild-type mice, upon calcitriol treatment, VDRknockout mice manifest improved IBD symptoms and increased expression of E-cadherin - an epithelial junctional protein [220, 221]. As VDR is not expressed in immune cells of VDR-KO/ TG mice and is exclusive to intestinal epithelial cells, these findings reveal the key role of VitD in these cells and suppression of IBD through maintenance of epithelial integrity. In line with these findings, VDR-knockout mice show impaired epithelial cell tight junctions, which is accompanied by increased incidence and severity of colitis [222]. Another potential mechanism proposed for the protective role of VitD in IBD is helping to maintain the homeostasis of intestinal normal flora via upregulation of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs). For instance, VDR-knockout mice are more susceptible to intestinal Bacteroides fragilis infection, which is associated with IBD pathogenesis in humans [223]. As previously explained, calcitriol is crucial for regulation of the NOD2-HBD2 pathway which upregulates the expression of the AMP β -defensin 2. It is shown that attenuated NOD2-HBD2 signaling is associated with increased risk of developing Crohn's disease [224].

Turning to human studies, the prevalence of IBD correlates with increases in latitude in Europe and North America, which is accompanied by lower sunlight exposure and lower VitD status [225]. Patients with active Crohn's disease have lower levels of intestinal VDR expression compared to those in remission [226]. Epidemiologic studies indicate that VitD deficiency is associated with increased risk of IBD, increased disease severity, and increased risk of malignant transformation [227–229]. In a meta-analysis of 14 observational studies, patients with IBD had 64% higher odds of vitamin D deficiency (25(OH)D level of \leq 20 ng/mL) when

compared with controls (OR = 1.64; p < 0.0001). Latitude did not influence the association between VitD deficiency and IBD (p = 0.34) [230]. However, it should be kept in mind that the epidemiologic associations of VitD deficiency with IBD might be the result of defective VitD intestinal absorption in these patients, perhaps before they are told that they have the disease, in which case VitD deficiency would be a consequence – not a cause – of IBD.

Interventional studies in IBD patients have produced encouraging, yet not conclusive results. Supplementation with 1200 IU of cholecalciferol per day insignificantly reduced the risk of relapse in IBD patients from 29% to 13% [231]. Another study reported improved Crohn's Disease Activity Index scores following 24 weeks of VitD supplementation [232]. Two RCTs in IBD patients reported significantly decreased levels of TNF- α , eosinophil sedimentation rate (ESR), and C-reactive protein (CRP) following VitD supplementation [233, 234]. In another RCT, 4000 IU per day of Vit D₃ significantly improved quality of life scores in 10 ulcerative colitis patients [235]. More studies with larger samples are needed to draw conclusions on the potential role of VitD supplementation in management of IBD.

Infectious Disorders

Acute Respiratory Infections

As presented above, calcitriol contributes to innate immune defense via several mechanisms including increased expression of microbicidal proteins by innate immune cells and epithelial cells throughout the body. Airway epithelial cells express both VDR and CYP27B1and, in response to systemic or local calcitriol, secrete AMPs such as cathelicidin and β -defensins, which can kill bacteria- and virus-infected cells.

Hypovitaminosis D has been associated with an increased risk of upper respiratory tract infections (URTIs) in several observational studies [236–238]. A large cohort of 18,883 subjects aged 12 years or older reported that even after adjusting for confounding factors (e.g., smoking history, age, gender, season, asthma diagnosis, etc.), serum 25(OH)D levels were inversely correlated with recent self-reported URTIs. In groups with 25(OH)D levels below 10 ng/ml and above 30 ng/ml, the rate of recent URTIs were 24% and 17%, respectively (p < 0.001), with an odds ratio of 1.36. Interestingly, consistent with the aforementioned beneficial role of VitD in asthma control, the correlation between VitD deficiency and URTI was even stronger in subjects with asthma and COPD with odds ratios of 5.67 and 2.26, respectively [239]. Another study in 800 military recruits found that VitD-deficient subjects lost significantly more days from active duty due to URTIs compared to VitD-sufficient subjects [236]. Another cross-sectional survey of 14,108 adults showed a 58% higher risk of URTIs in participants with 25(OH)D levels below 30 ng/ ml after adjustment for confounding factors. There was also a linear relationship between VitD levels and cumulative frequency of URTIs, up to VitD levels around 30 ng/ml [240]. VitD deficiency during pregnancy and in newborns is associated with increased risk of URTIs. A study found that 25(OH)D levels below 50 nmol/L increase the odds of developing URTIs in children by 70% [241]. Cord blood 25(OH)D levels below 25 nmol/l were associated with 2.16-fold increased risk of respiratory infections by three months of age in 922 newborns [206].

We previously addressed how VitD can exert a protective effect against viral infections. Recent epidemiological evidence indicates that influenza infection is most common during the first month of winter throughout the world when the VitD levels reach their minimum [242]. Sufficient VitD status is shown to protect against various viral infections including influenza and respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infections [243]. Infants with cord blood 25(OH)D levels below 20 ng/ ml have a significantly higher risk of developing RSV infection during their first year of life compared to those with levels above 30 ng/ml [244].

Nevertheless, VitD supplementation trials have had inconsistent success in preventing the incidence of URTIs and influenza infections in adult populations but perhaps show more promise in pediatric populations [207]. An RCT of monthly 100,000 IU doses of VitD in 322 healthy adults did not report a reduction in the number or severity of URTI episodes. However, with mean 25(OH)D level of 29 ng/ml, the study population was already VitD-sufficient at baseline [245]. Moreover, in another study that did not detect a beneficial effect for VitD supplementation in URTI prevention, only 29% of the treated subjects reached 25(OH)D levels above 80 nmol/L, indicating inadequate dosing of VitD [246]. In an RCT, daily intake of 4000 IU VitD₃ by 140 immunodeficient subjects significantly reduced infectious symptoms and the use of antibiotics over one year in the VitD-treated group [247]. Moreover, 247 VitD-deficient Mongolian children (mean baseline 25(OH)D = 7 ng/ml) treated with VitD-fortified milk demonstrated significantly increased mean 25(OH)D levels (19 ng/ ml) and reduced parent-reported URTIs (rate ratio = 0.52) [248]. The RCT of Grant et al. showed that VitD supplementation of pregnant women and then their infants until 6 months of age significantly reduced the number of primary care visits due to URTIs by the age of 18 months [249]. VitD-supplemented subjects self-reported reduced rates of influenza and cold symptoms [250]. A double-blind RCT in schoolchildren using nasopharyngeal swab cultures instead of self-report as the endpoint reported a significant reduction (42%, p = 0.04) in the incidence of influenza infections in the VitD-treated arm. The effect was even more pronounced in children who had not been taking VitD supplements before the study [251]. Finally, a recent meta-analysis of 25 RCTs in 10,933 participants aged 0 to 95 years confirmed that VitD supplementation is beneficial in protection against URTIs, particularly in subjects with baseline levels of 25(OH)D below 25 nmol/l (adjusted odds ratio = 0.88 and 0.30, respectively, *p* < 0.001) [252].

Maternal 25(OH)D serum levels during pregnancy are inversely associated with risk of lower respiratory tract infections (LRTIs) in offspring in the first year of life [253]. A cross-sectional study in 16,975 participants showed that after adjusting for demographic factors, season, and clinical data, serum 25(OH)D levels below 30 ng/ ml were associated with 56% higher odds of a history of community-acquired pneumonia within the last year compared to levels above 30 ng/ml [237]. A meta-analysis of 12 observational studies concluded that there is an inverse correlation between serum 25(OH)D levels and incidence and severity of LRTIs [254]. VitD supplementation had no effect on preventing the incidence of the first episode of pneumonia in 3046 infants aged 1–11 months. However, severe malnutrition was common in the study population; therefore, the high probability of deficiency of other micronutrients compromises the generalizability of the study results to better-nourished populations [255].

Tuberculosis (TB)

As discussed earlier, the enhancing effect of calcitriol on killing of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (M. tb) through induction of innate immune functions has been known for decades. In recent years, several studies have focused on clinical extrapolation of these in vitro findings.

Studies have frequently reported significantly lower VitD status in TB patients compared to healthy subjects. Serum 25(OH)D levels below 30 ng/ml have been associated with increased prevalence of TB [256–258]. A meta-analysis of 25 studies pooling the data of 3599 TB cases and 3063 controls revealed that VitD deficiency is a risk factor for developing TB, not a consequence [259]. Furthermore, it has been shown that VitDdeficient latent TB patients are more likely to proceed to active disease [260].

However, the results obtained from VitD supplementation studies have generally not shown promising responses. A single 100,000 IU oral dose of VitD inhibited the growth of M. tb in whole blood samples of healthy individuals [261]. VitD administration in adjunction with conventional TB regimen significantly reduced the time for sputum acid-fast bacteria smear conversion in TB patients [262], inhibited antigen-stimulated pro-inflammatory cytokine responses [263], and enhanced resolution of lymphopenia and monocytosis [264]. However, two rigorously designed RCTs reported no improvement in sputum conversion time of TB patients receiving high-dose adjunctive VitD therapy, irrespective of whether VitD supplementation managed to significantly increase 25(OH)D serum levels compared to controls or not [265, 266]. A meta-analysis did not find any positive effect of VitD supplementation in treatment of TB patients [260]. However, it should be noted that most available intervention studies of VitD in TB patients have employed specific paraclinical endpoints such as sputum conversion time rather than clinical endpoints. Therefore, whether VitD administration is clinically beneficial in the treatment of TB should be further addressed in future studies. Martineau et al. found that a single 100,000 IU dose of VitD administered to purified protein derivative (PPD)positive contacts of active TB patients is able to significantly suppress the growth of M. tb in their whole blood as measured by the BCG-lux assay [261]. The role of VitD treatment in preventing TB infection or activation of latent disease remains to be determined.

VitD Metabolism, Genetic Variations, and Disease

Considering the involvement of several enzymes, receptors, and proteins in the metabolism of VitD, it should be kept in mind that the amount of VitD intake and endogenous synthesis are not the only factors that influence circulating levels of VitD metabolites. Furthermore, circulating level of VitD metabolites is not the sole determinant of the degree of VitD exposure at the cellular level. As was presented earlier, circulating levels of 25(OH)D have been associated with prevalence or severity of various disease conditions. Therefore, every parameter that affects circulating 25(OH)D levels and/or VitD availability and activity at the cellular level for any given serum level of 25(OH)D is expected to correlate with the pathogenesis of various disease states.

As mentioned earlier in this chapter, DBP is the glycoprotein that binds and transports VitD metabolites in the peripheral blood and delivers them to the target tissues. Three allelic forms, DBP-1-1 (Gc1F), DBP-2-1 (Gc1S), and DBP-2-2 (Gc2), have been identified for DBP which show distinguishable geographical and racial patterns of distribution. Different alleles produce DBP phenotypes with remarkably variable DBP serum concentrations and different affinities for binding VitD metabolites, with DBP-1-1 phenotype exhibiting the highest and DBP-2-2 showing the lowest affinity. Studies have reported a link between DBP phenotype with both circulating 25(OH)D concentrations and bioavailability of VitD in target cells [267]. A genome-wide association study of almost 34,000 individuals showed that genetic variations in DBP are independent determinants of serum DBP concentrations, as well as serum 25(OH)D and 1,25(OH)₂D concentrations [268, 269]. A possible rationale for the positive correlation between DBP and VitD concentrations could be that DBP facilitates the glomerular reabsorption of 25(OH)D and thereby enhances renal calcitriol synthesis [113]. In line with this evidence, various studies have described the association between DBP polymorphisms and susceptibility to several immunerelated disease conditions. As target cells seem to respond more to the free 25(OH)D rather than the DBP-bound form, patients with lower-affinity DBP phenotypes appear to demonstrate enhanced VitD responses. Antibacterial effects of VitD are more pronounced in patients having low-affinity DBP SNP such as Gc1S and Gc2 [270, 271]. A specific SNP in the DBP gene was found to be significantly associated with the prevalence of RA. The haplotype DBP2 was less common in IBD patients [89]. In a large case-control study, the Gc2 genotype was strongly associated with susceptibility to active TB, compared with Gc1 genotype (odds ratio = 2.81, p = 0.009) [272]. However, genetic studies have failed to demonstrate an association of DBP polymorphisms and MS and T1DM [89].

More than 70 different SNPs for the VDR gene have been identified, which can influence the abundance and activity of VDR in target cells and affect the immune response. VDR genetic profiling studies have generally reported links between certain polymorphisms and pathologic conditions including TB, IBD, and autoimmune disorders such as T1DM, MS, SLE, and RA [271]. A metaanalysis showed that subjects who are homozygous for the presence of the VDR Fok I polymorphism (the "ff" genotype), which has three more amino acids compared to the "F" form but shows less activity [273], are at higher risk of active TB [274]. Children with ff genotype are at higher risk of developing LRTIs compared to general population [275]. Apa I, Bsm I, and Taq I are common SNPs located in the untranslated region of the VDR gene and are thought to affect the expression of VDR via modulation of VDR mRNA stability. A meta-analysis of 13 studies revealed a significant correlation between Apa I polymorphism and susceptibility to IBD [276]. Some studies have also reported that the Bsm I polymorphism (the "B" allele) is associated with higher prevalence of T1DM and TB [277, 278]. An RCT by Martineau et al. demonstrated improved sputum culture conversion rates in 12 VitD-supplemented TB patients with the Taq 1 polymorphism, while such an effect was not observed in the overall study population [266]. In contrast, a meta-analysis in psoriasis patients revealed no significant correlation with VDR polymorphisms [279]. Finally, variations within the genes encoding CYP27B1 have also been associated with autoimmune disorders including T1DM [280].

In summary, exploring the clinical implications of genetic variations in VitD metabolic system is an emerging line of research, and further studies are needed to better define this complex field. Future studies should evaluate the impact of genetic polymorphisms on circulating 25(OH)D concentrations and on clinical disease endpoints at given 25(OH)D levels. This might help explain the large interindividual variations observed in clinical studies in response to the same doses of VitD supplementation in terms of changes in serum 25(OH)D levels. Moreover, better identification of racial and ethnic variability of VDR and DBP genotypes could contribute to establishment of more accurate local guidelines for VitD supplementation and definition of healthy vs. unhealthy VitD status.

Conclusions

In this chapter, we reviewed the diverse roles of VitD in regulation of human immune response. Briefly, the VitD receptor is expressed by virtually all tissues throughout the body, including the immune and inflammatory cells. Monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells, and activated lymphocytes can locally convert precursor VitD metabolites

to the biologically active calcitriol. This forms autocrine and paracrine pathways of VitD metabolism in addition to the endocrine pathway regulated by kidneys. Therefore, the immune system is equipped to both produce and respond to VitD. VitD exerts dichotomous effects on innate and adaptive immune responses. It serves as a potent stimulant of innate defense by upregulating antimicrobial peptides, autophagy, and phagocytosis in macrophages and monocytes upon exposure to pathogens. On the other hand, VitD is thought to be a tolerogenic immunomodulator in adaptive immunity. It is able to suppress maturation and antigen presentation by dendritic cells and shifts them toward a hyporesponsive tolerogenic immature phenotype. It also inhibits proliferation of T cells and downregulates activation of Th1 and Th17 immune responses while promoting Th2 and Treg activity. Finally, calcitriol represses B-cell proliferation and class switching and inhibits the formation of memory and plasma cells and the production of immunoglobulins by B cells.

On this basis, many studies have investigated the potential role of VitD in immune-related pathologic conditions, including autoimmune disorders, chronic inflammatory conditions, and infectious diseases. Many epidemiologic studies have reported strong associations between VitD deficiency and prevalence or severity of various disease states. The results obtained from interventional VitD supplementation trials have been less straightforward, although there still is a paucity of large-scale RCTs that are methodologically equipped to anticipate sources of bias in study design and data analysis. Hopefully, ongoing addition of such rigorously designed RCTs to the available body of evidence will further support and validate the role of VitD as a promising and safe nutrient for prevention and adjunctive treatment of several immune-associated disorders.

References

 Hossein-nezhad A, Spira A, Holick MF. Influence of vitamin D status and vitamin D3 supplementation on genome wide expression of white blood cells: a randomized double-blind clinical trial. PLoS One. 2013;8(3):e58725.

- Biesalski HK. Vitamin D recommendations: beyond deficiency. Ann Nutr Metab. 2011;59(1):10–6.
- 3. Green M. Cod liver oil and tuberculosis. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2011;343:d7505.
- Rook GA, Steele J, Fraher L, Barker S, Karmali R, O'Riordan J, et al. Vitamin D3, gamma interferon, and control of proliferation of Mycobacterium tuberculosis by human monocytes. Immunology. 1986;57(1):159–63.
- Jones G, Strugnell SA, DeLuca HF. Current understanding of the molecular actions of vitamin D. Physiol Rev. 1998;78(4):1193–231.
- Jurutka PW, Whitfield GK, Hsieh JC, Thompson PD, Haussler CA, Haussler MR. Molecular nature of the vitamin D receptor and its role in regulation of gene expression. Rev Endocr Metab Disord. 2001;2(2):203–16.
- Chen Y, Zhang J, Ge X, Du J, Deb DK, Li YC. Vitamin D receptor inhibits nuclear factor kappaB activation by interacting with IkappaB kinase beta protein. J Biol Chem. 2013;288(27):19450–8.
- Nemere I, Dormanen MC, Hammond MW, Okamura WH, Norman AW. Identification of a specific binding protein for 1 alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in basal-lateral membranes of chick intestinal epithelium and relationship to transcaltachia. J Biol Chem. 1994;269(38):23750–6.
- DeLuca HF. The vitamin D story: a collaborative effort of basic science and clinical medicine. FASEB J. 1988;2(3):224–36.
- Ross AC, Manson JE, Abrams SA, Aloia JF, Brannon PM, Clinton SK, et al. The 2011 report on dietary reference intakes for calcium and vitamin D from the Institute of Medicine: what clinicians need to know. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96(1):53–8.
- Dawson-Hughes B, Mithal A, Bonjour JP, Boonen S, Burckhardt P, Fuleihan GE, et al. IOF position statement: vitamin D recommendations for older adults. Osteoporos Int. 2010;21(7):1151–4.
- Holick MF, Binkley NC, Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Gordon CM, Hanley DA, Heaney RP, et al. Evaluation, treatment, and prevention of vitamin D deficiency: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96(7):1911–30.
- Zhang R, Naughton DP. Vitamin D in health and disease: current perspectives. Nutr J. 2010;9:65.
- Tavera-Mendoza LE, White JH. Cell defenses and the sunshine vitamin. Sci Am. 2007;297(5):62–5, 68-70, 72.
- Clemens TL, Adams JS, Henderson SL, Holick MF. Increased skin pigment reduces the capacity of skin to synthesise vitamin D3. Lancet (London, England). 1982;1(8263):74–6.
- Liu PT, Stenger S, Li H, Wenzel L, Tan BH, Krutzik SR, et al. Toll-like receptor triggering of a vitamin D-mediated human antimicrobial response. Science (New York, NY). 2006;311(5768):1770–3.
- 17. Pittaway JK, Ahuja KD, Beckett JM, Bird ML, Robertson IK, Ball MJ. Make vitamin D while the sun shines, take supplements when it doesn't: a longitudi-

nal, observational study of older adults in Tasmania, Australia. PLoS One. 2013;8(3):e59063.

- MacLaughlin J, Holick MF. Aging decreases the capacity of human skin to produce vitamin D3. J Clin Invest. 1985;76(4):1536–8.
- (IOM) IoM. Dietary reference intakes for calcium and vitamin D. Washington, D.C.: The National Academies Press; 2010. https://www.nap.edu/catalog/13050/ dietary-reference-intakes-for-calcium-andvitamin-d.
- 20. Tripkovic L, Lambert H, Hart K, Smith CP, Bucca G, Penson S, et al. Comparison of vitamin D2 and vitamin D3 supplementation in raising serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D status: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Clin Nutr. 2012;95(6):1357–64.
- Holick MF. Vitamin D deficiency. N Engl J Med. 2007;357(3):266–81.
- 22. Lowe H, Cusano NE, Binkley N, Blaner WS, Bilezikian JP. Vitamin D toxicity due to a commonly available "over the counter" remedy from the Dominican Republic. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96(2):291–5.
- Fritsche J, Mondal K, Ehrnsperger A, Andreesen R, Kreutz M. Regulation of 25-hydroxyvitamin D3-1 alpha-hydroxylase and production of 1 alpha,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 by human dendritic cells. Blood. 2003;102(9):3314–6.
- Esteban L, Vidal M, Dusso A. 1alpha-Hydroxylase transactivation by gamma-interferon in murine macrophages requires enhanced C/EBPbeta expression and activation. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2004;89–90(1–5):131–7.
- Dusso AS, Kamimura S, Gallieni M, Zhong M, Negrea L, Shapiro S, et al. gamma-Interferon-induced resistance to 1,25-(OH)2 D3 in human monocytes and macrophages: a mechanism for the hypercalcemia of various granulomatoses. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1997;82(7):2222–32.
- Vandamme D, Landuyt B, Luyten W, Schoofs L. A comprehensive summary of LL-37, the factotum human cathelicidin peptide. Cell Immunol. 2012;280(1):22–35.
- 27. Aung G, Niyonsaba F, Ushio H, Kajiwara N, Saito H, Ikeda S, et al. Catestatin, a neuroendocrine antimicrobial peptide, induces human mast cell migration, degranulation and production of cytokines and chemokines. Immunology. 2011;132(4):527–39.
- Chertov O, Michiel DF, Xu L, Wang JM, Tani K, Murphy WJ, et al. Identification of defensin-1, defensin-2, and CAP37/azurocidin as T-cell chemoattractant proteins released from interleukin-8-stimulated neutrophils. J Biol Chem. 1996;271(6):2935–40.
- 29. Zughaier SM, Shafer WM, Stephens DS. Antimicrobial peptides and endotoxin inhibit cytokine and nitric oxide release but amplify respiratory burst response in human and murine macrophages. Cell Microbiol. 2005;7(9):1251–62.
- Lai Y, Li D, Li C, Muehleisen B, Radek KA, Park HJ, et al. The antimicrobial protein REG3A regulates keratinocyte proliferation and differentiation after skin injury. Immunity. 2012;37(1):74–84.

- Hancock RE, Sahl HG. Antimicrobial and hostdefense peptides as new anti-infective therapeutic strategies. Nat Biotechnol. 2006;24(12):1551–7.
- Doss M, White MR, Tecle T, Hartshorn KL. Human defensins and LL-37 in mucosal immunity. J Leukoc Biol. 2010;87(1):79–92.
- 33. Liu PT, Schenk M, Walker VP, Dempsey PW, Kanchanapoomi M, Wheelwright M, et al. Convergence of IL-1beta and VDR activation pathways in human TLR2/1-induced antimicrobial responses. PLoS One. 2009;4(6):e5810.
- 34. Gombart AF, Borregaard N, Koeffler HP. Human cathelicidin antimicrobial peptide (CAMP) gene is a direct target of the vitamin D receptor and is strongly up-regulated in myeloid cells by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. FASEB J. 2005;19(9):1067–77.
- 35. Wang TT, Nestel FP, Bourdeau V, Nagai Y, Wang Q, Liao J, et al. Cutting edge: 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 is a direct inducer of antimicrobial peptide gene expression. J Immunol (Baltimore, Md: 1950). 2004;173(5):2909–12.
- Adams JS, Ren S, Liu PT, Chun RF, Lagishetty V, Gombart AF, et al. Vitamin d-directed rheostatic regulation of monocyte antibacterial responses. J Immunol (Baltimore, Md: 1950). 2009;182(7):4289–95.
- 37. Jeng L, Yamshchikov AV, Judd SE, Blumberg HM, Martin GS, Ziegler TR, et al. Alterations in vitamin D status and anti-microbial peptide levels in patients in the intensive care unit with sepsis. J Transl Med. 2009;7:28.
- Sorensen O, Cowland JB, Askaa J, Borregaard N. An ELISA for hCAP-18, the cathelicidin present in human neutrophils and plasma. J Immunol Methods. 1997;206(1–2):53–9.
- 39. Oberg F, Botling J, Nilsson K. Functional antagonism between vitamin D3 and retinoic acid in the regulation of CD14 and CD23 expression during monocytic differentiation of U-937 cells. J Immunol (Baltimore, Md: 1950). 1993;150(8 Pt 1):3487–95.
- 40. Wang TT, Dabbas B, Laperriere D, Bitton AJ, Soualhine H, Tavera-Mendoza LE, et al. Direct and indirect induction by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 of the NOD2/CARD15-defensin beta2 innate immune pathway defective in Crohn disease. J Biol Chem. 2010;285(4):2227–31.
- Bacchetta J, Zaritsky JJ, Sea JL, Chun RF, Lisse TS, Zavala K, et al. Suppression of iron-regulatory hepcidin by vitamin D. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2014;25(3):564–72.
- 42. Edfeldt K, Liu PT, Chun R, Fabri M, Schenk M, Wheelwright M, et al. T-cell cytokines differentially control human monocyte antimicrobial responses by regulating vitamin D metabolism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(52):22593–8.
- 43. Sadeghi K, Wessner B, Laggner U, Ploder M, Tamandl D, Friedl J, et al. Vitamin D3 down-regulates monocyte TLR expression and triggers hyporesponsiveness to pathogen-associated molecular patterns. Eur J Immunol. 2006;36(2):361–70.

- 44. Chen Y, Liu W, Sun T, Huang Y, Wang Y, Deb DK, et al. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D promotes negative feedback regulation of TLR signaling via targeting microRNA-155-SOCS1 in macrophages. J Immunol (Baltimore, Md: 1950). 2013;190(7):3687–95.
- 45. Avila E, Diaz L, Halhali A, Larrea F. Regulation of 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 lalpha-hydroxylase, 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 24-hydroxylase and vitamin D receptor gene expression by 8-bromo cyclic AMP in cultured human syncytiotrophoblast cells. J Steroid Biochem Molecular Biol. 2004;89–90(1–5):115–9.
- 46. Xu H, Soruri A, Gieseler RK, Peters JH. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 exerts opposing effects to IL-4 on MHC class-II antigen expression, accessory activity, and phagocytosis of human monocytes. Scand J Immunol. 1993;38(6):535–40.
- Murray PJ, Wynn TA. Protective and pathogenic functions of macrophage subsets. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11(11):723–37.
- 48. Zhang Y, Leung DY, Richers BN, Liu Y, Remigio LK, Riches DW, et al. Vitamin D inhibits monocyte/ macrophage proinflammatory cytokine production by targeting MAPK phosphatase-1. J Immunol (Baltimore, Md: 1950). 2012;188(5):2127–35.
- Cohen-Lahav M, Shany S, Tobvin D, Chaimovitz C, Douvdevani A. Vitamin D decreases NFkappaB activity by increasing IkappaBalpha levels. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2006;21(4):889–97.
- Weber G, Heilborn JD, Chamorro Jimenez CI, Hammarsjo A, Torma H, Stahle M. Vitamin D induces the antimicrobial protein hCAP18 in human skin. J Invest Dermatol. 2005;124(5):1080–2.
- Liu N, Kaplan AT, Low J, Nguyen L, Liu GY, Equils O, et al. Vitamin D induces innate antibacterial responses in human trophoblasts via an intracrine pathway. Biol Reprod. 2009;80(3):398–406.
- 52. Liu N, Nguyen L, Chun RF, Lagishetty V, Ren S, Wu S, et al. Altered endocrine and autocrine metabolism of vitamin D in a mouse model of gastrointestinal inflammation. Endocrinology. 2008;149(10):4799–808.
- 53. Evans KN, Nguyen L, Chan J, Innes BA, Bulmer JN, Kilby MD, et al. Effects of 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 on cytokine production by human decidual cells. Biol Reprod. 2006;75(6):816–22.
- 54. Yim S, Dhawan P, Ragunath C, Christakos S, Diamond G. Induction of cathelicidin in normal and CF bronchial epithelial cells by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3). J Cystic Fibros. 2007;6(6):403–10.
- 55. Schauber J, Oda Y, Buchau AS, Yun QC, Steinmeyer A, Zugel U, et al. Histone acetylation in keratinocytes enables control of the expression of cathelicidin and CD14 by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. J Invest Dermatol. 2008;128(4):816–24.
- 56. Lagishetty V, Misharin AV, Liu NQ, Lisse TS, Chun RF, Ouyang Y, et al. Vitamin D deficiency in mice impairs colonic antibacterial activity and predisposes to colitis. Endocrinology. 2010;151(6):2423–32.

- 57. D'Aldebert E, Biyeyeme Bi Mve MJ, Mergey M, Wendum D, Firrincieli D, Coilly A, et al. Bile salts control the antimicrobial peptide cathelicidin through nuclear receptors in the human biliary epithelium. Gastroenterology. 2009;136(4):1435–43.
- Makishima M, Lu TT, Xie W, Whitfield GK, Domoto H, Evans RM, et al. Vitamin D receptor as an intestinal bile acid sensor. Science (New York, NY). 2002;296(5571):1313–6.
- 59. Clairmont A, Tessman D, Stock A, Nicolai S, Stahl W, Sies H. Induction of gap junctional intercellular communication by vitamin D in human skin fibroblasts is dependent on the nuclear induction of gap junctional intercellular communication by vitamin D in human skin fibroblasts is dependent on the nuclear vitamin D receptor. Carcinogenesis. 1996;17(6):1389–91.
- 60. Palmer HG, Gonzalez-Sancho JM, Espada J, Berciano MT, Puig I, Baulida J, et al. Vitamin D(3) promotes the differentiation of colon carcinoma cells by the induction of E-cadherin and the inhibition of beta-catenin signaling. J Cell Biol. 2001;154(2):369–87.
- Yuk JM, Shin DM, Lee HM, Yang CS, Jin HS, Kim KK, et al. Vitamin D3 induces autophagy in human monocytes/macrophages via cathelicidin. Cell Host Microbe. 2009;6(3):231–43.
- Fabri M, Realegeno SE, Jo EK, Modlin RL. Role of autophagy in the host response to microbial infection and potential for therapy. Curr Opin Immunol. 2011;23(1):65–70.
- Blanchet FP, Piguet V. Immunoamphisomes in dendritic cells amplify TLR signaling and enhance exogenous antigen presentation on MHC-II. Autophagy. 2010;6(6):816–8.
- 64. Sly LM, Lopez M, Nauseef WM, Reiner NE. 1alpha,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3-induced monocyte antimycobacterial activity is regulated by phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and mediated by the NADPH-dependent phagocyte oxidase. J Biol Chem. 2001;276(38):35482–93.
- Abu-Amer Y, Bar-Shavit Z. Regulation of TNF-alpha release from bone marrow-derived macrophages by vitamin D. J Cell Biochem. 1994;55(4):435–44.
- 66. Kankova M, Luini W, Pedrazzoni M, Riganti F, Sironi M, Bottazzi B, et al. Impairment of cytokine production in mice fed a vitamin D3-deficient diet. Immunology. 1991;73(4):466–71.
- 67. Campbell GR, Spector SA. Toll-like receptor 8 ligands activate a vitamin D mediated autophagic response that inhibits human immunodeficiency virus type 1. PLoS Pathog. 2012;8(11):e1003017.
- Lang PO, Samaras D. Aging adults and seasonal influenza: does the vitamin d status (h)arm the body? J Aging Res. 2012;2012:806198.
- Hansdottir S, Monick MM, Hinde SL, Lovan N, Look DC, Hunninghake GW. Respiratory epithelial cells convert inactive vitamin D to its active form: potential effects on host defense. J Immunol (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2008;181(10):7090–9.

- Steinmann J, Halldorsson S, Agerberth B, Gudmundsson GH. Phenylbutyrate induces antimicrobial peptide expression. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2009;53(12):5127–33.
- Penna G, Amuchastegui S, Giarratana N, Daniel KC, Vulcano M, Sozzani S, et al. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 selectively modulates tolerogenic properties in myeloid but not plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J Immunol (Baltimore, Md: 1950). 2007;178(1):145–53.
- 72. Ferreira GB, van Etten E, Verstuyf A, Waer M, Overbergh L, Gysemans C, et al. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 alters murine dendritic cell behaviour in vitro and in vivo. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2011;27(8):933–41.
- Penna G, Adorini L. 1 Alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibits differentiation, maturation, activation, and survival of dendritic cells leading to impaired alloreactive T cell activation. J Immunol (Baltimore, Md: 1950). 2000;164(5):2405–11.
- Piemonti L, Monti P, Sironi M, Fraticelli P, Leone BE, Dal Cin E, et al. Vitamin D3 affects differentiation, maturation, and function of human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. J Immunol (Baltimore, Md: 1950). 2000;164(9):4443–51.
- 75. D'Ambrosio D, Cippitelli M, Cocciolo MG, Mazzeo D, Di Lucia P, Lang R, et al. Inhibition of IL-12 production by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. Involvement of NF-kappaB downregulation in transcriptional repression of the p40 gene. J Clin Invest. 1998;101(1):252–62.
- 76. Griffin MD, Lutz W, Phan VA, Bachman LA, McKean DJ, Kumar R. Dendritic cell modulation by 1alpha,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3 and its analogs: a vitamin D receptor-dependent pathway that promotes a persistent state of immaturity in vitro and in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98(12):6800–5.
- 77. Unger WW, Laban S, Kleijwegt FS, van der Slik AR, Roep BO. Induction of Treg by monocytederived DC modulated by vitamin D3 or dexamethasone: differential role for PD-L1. Eur J Immunol. 2009;39(11):3147–59.
- van Halteren AG, Tysma OM, van Etten E, Mathieu C, Roep BO. 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 or analogue treated dendritic cells modulate human autoreactive T cells via the selective induction of apoptosis. J Autoimmun. 2004;23(3):233–9.
- El-Fakhri N, McDevitt H, Shaikh MG, Halsey C, Ahmed SF. Vitamin D and its effects on glucose homeostasis, cardiovascular function and immune function. Horm Res Paediatr. 2014;81(6):363–78.
- Hewison M, Freeman L, Hughes SV, Evans KN, Bland R, Eliopoulos AG, et al. Differential regulation of vitamin D receptor and its ligand in human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. J Immunol (Baltimore, Md: 1950). 2003;170(11):5382–90.
- 81. Panda DK, Miao D, Tremblay ML, Sirois J, Farookhi R, Hendy GN, et al. Targeted ablation of the 25-hydroxyvitamin D lalpha -hydroxylase enzyme: evidence for skeletal, reproductive, and

immune dysfunction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98(13):7498–503.

- 82. Baeke F, Korf H, Overbergh L, van Etten E, Verstuyf A, Gysemans C, et al. Human T lymphocytes are direct targets of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in the immune system. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2010;121(1–2):221–7.
- Veldman CM, Cantorna MT, DeLuca HF. Expression of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3) receptor in the immune system. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2000;374(2):334–8.
- 84. Lemire JM, Adams JS, Kermani-Arab V, Bakke AC, Sakai R, Jordan SC. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 suppresses human T helper/inducer lymphocyte activity in vitro. J Immunol (Baltimore, Md: 1950). 1985;134(5):3032–5.
- Rigby WF, Stacy T, Fanger MW. Inhibition of T lymphocyte mitogenesis by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 (calcitriol). J Clin Invest. 1984;74(4):1451–5.
- Cantorna MT, Snyder L, Lin YD, Yang L. Vitamin D and 1,25(OH)2D regulation of T cells. Nutrients. 2015;7(4):3011–21.
- Boonstra A, Barrat FJ, Crain C, Heath VL, Savelkoul HF, O'Garra A. 1alpha,25-Dihydroxyvitamin d3 has a direct effect on naive CD4(+) T cells to enhance the development of Th2 cells. J Immunol (Baltimore, Md: 1950). 2001;167(9):4974–80.
- Palmer MT, Lee YK, Maynard CL, Oliver JR, Bikle DD, Jetten AM, et al. Lineage-specific effects of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3) on the development of effector CD4 T cells. J Biol Chem. 2011;286(2): 997–1004.
- Colotta F, Jansson B, Bonelli F. Modulation of inflammatory and immune responses by vitamin D. J Autoimmun. 2017;85(Supplement C):78–97.
- Peck A, Mellins ED. Precarious balance: Th17 cells in host defense. Infect Immun. 2010;78(1):32–8.
- Hirota K, Duarte JH, Veldhoen M, Hornsby E, Li Y, Cua DJ, et al. Fate mapping of IL-17-producing T cells in inflammatory responses. Nat Immunol. 2011;12(3):255–63.
- 92. Yang J, Chu Y, Yang X, Gao D, Zhu L, Yang X, et al. Th17 and natural Treg cell population dynamics in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 2009;60(5):1472–83.
- Leipe J, Grunke M, Dechant C, Reindl C, Kerzendorf U, Schulze-Koops H, et al. Role of Th17 cells in human autoimmune arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2010;62(10):2876–85.
- 94. Joshi S, Pantalena LC, Liu XK, Gaffen SL, Liu H, Rohowsky-Kochan C, et al. 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3) ameliorates Th17 autoimmunity via transcriptional modulation of interleukin-17A. Mol Cell Biol. 2011;31(17):3653–69.
- 95. Jeffery LE, Burke F, Mura M, Zheng Y, Qureshi OS, Hewison M, et al. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 and IL-2 combine to inhibit T cell production of inflammatory cytokines and promote development of regulatory T cells expressing CTLA-4 and FoxP3. J Immunol (Baltimore, Md: 1950). 2009;183(9):5458–67.

- 96. Penna G, Amuchastegui S, Cossetti C, Aquilano F, Mariani R, Sanvito F, et al. Treatment of experimental autoimmune prostatitis in nonobese diabetic mice by the vitamin D receptor agonist elocalcitol. J Immunol (Baltimore, Md: 1950). 2006;177(12):8504–11.
- Chang SH, Chung Y, Dong C. Vitamin D suppresses Th17 cytokine production by inducing C/EBP homologous protein (CHOP) expression. J Biol Chem. 2010;285(50):38751–5.
- 98. van Hamburg JP, Asmawidjaja PS, Davelaar N, Mus AM, Cornelissen F, van Leeuwen JP, et al. TNF blockade requires 1,25(OH)2D3 to control human Th17mediated synovial inflammation. Ann Rheum Dis. 2012;71(4):606–12.
- 99. Tang J, Zhou R, Luger D, Zhu W, Silver PB, Grajewski RS, et al. Calcitriol suppresses antiretinal autoimmunity through inhibitory effects on the Th17 effector response. J Immunol (Baltimore, Md: 1950). 2009;182(8):4624–32.
- 100. Alroy I, Towers TL, Freedman LP. Transcriptional repression of the interleukin-2 gene by vitamin D3: direct inhibition of NFATp/AP-1 complex formation by a nuclear hormone receptor. Mol Cell Biol. 1995;15(10):5789–99.
- 101. Zhu J, Yamane H, Cote-Sierra J, Guo L, Paul WE. GATA-3 promotes Th2 responses through three different mechanisms: induction of Th2 cytokine production, selective growth of Th2 cells and inhibition of Th1 cell-specific factors. Cell Res. 2006;16(1):3–10.
- Cippitelli M, Santoni A. Vitamin D3: a transcriptional modulator of the interferon-gamma gene. Eur J Immunol. 1998;28(10):3017–30.
- 103. Nanduri R, Mahajan S, Bhagyaraj E, Sethi K, Kalra R, Chandra V, et al. The active form of vitamin D transcriptionally represses Smad7 signaling and activates extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) to inhibit the differentiation of a inflammatory T helper cell subset and suppress experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Biol Chem. 2015;290(19):12222–36.
- 104. Bennett CL, Christie J, Ramsdell F, Brunkow ME, Ferguson PJ, Whitesell L, et al. The immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked syndrome (IPEX) is caused by mutations of FOXP3. Nat Genet. 2001;27(1):20–1.
- 105. Kang SW, Kim SH, Lee N, Lee WW, Hwang KA, Shin MS, et al. 1,25-Dihyroxyvitamin D3 promotes FOXP3 expression via binding to vitamin D response elements in its conserved noncoding sequence region. J Immunol (Baltimore, Md: 1950). 2012;188(11):5276–82.
- 106. Barrat FJ, Cua DJ, Boonstra A, Richards DF, Crain C, Savelkoul HF, et al. In vitro generation of interleukin 10-producing regulatory CD4(+) T cells is induced by immunosuppressive drugs and inhibited by T helper type 1 (Th1)- and Th2-inducing cytokines. J Exp Med. 2002;195(5):603–16.
- 107. Gorman S, Kuritzky LA, Judge MA, Dixon KM, McGlade JP, Mason RS, et al. Topically applied 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 enhances the suppres-

sive activity of CD4+CD25+ cells in the draining lymph nodes. J Immunol (Baltimore, Md: 1950). 2007;179(9):6273–83.

- 108. Linker-Israeli M, Elstner E, Klinenberg JR, Wallace DJ, Koeffler HP. Vitamin D(3) and its synthetic analogs inhibit the spontaneous in vitro immuno-globulin production by SLE-derived PBMC. Clin Immunol (Orlando, Fla). 2001;99(1):82–93.
- 109. Farias AS, Spagnol GS, Bordeaux-Rego P, Oliveira CO, Fontana AG, de Paula RF, et al. Vitamin D3 induces IDO+ tolerogenic DCs and enhances Treg, reducing the severity of EAE. CNS Neurosci Ther. 2013;19(4):269–77.
- 110. Smolders J, Thewissen M, Peelen E, Menheere P, Tervaert JW, Damoiseaux J, et al. Vitamin D status is positively correlated with regulatory T cell function in patients with multiple sclerosis. PLoS One. 2009;4(8):e6635.
- 111. Ardalan MR, Maljaei H, Shoja MM, Piri AR, Khosroshahi HT, Noshad H, et al. Calcitriol started in the donor, expands the population of CD4+CD25+ T cells in renal transplant recipients. Transplant Proc. 2007;39(4):951–3.
- 112. Bock G, Prietl B, Mader JK, Holler E, Wolf M, Pilz S, et al. The effect of vitamin D supplementation on peripheral regulatory T cells and beta cell function in healthy humans: a randomized controlled trial. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2011;27(8):942–5.
- 113. Lang PO, Samaras N, Samaras D, Aspinall R. How important is vitamin D in preventing infections? Osteoporos Int. 2013;24(5):1537–53.
- 114. von Essen MR, Kongsbak M, Schjerling P, Olgaard K, Odum N, Geisler C. Vitamin D controls T cell antigen receptor signaling and activation of human T cells. Nat Immunol. 2010;11(4):344–9.
- 115. Mahon BD, Wittke A, Weaver V, Cantorna MT. The targets of vitamin D depend on the differentiation and activation status of CD4 positive T cells. J Cell Biochem. 2003;89(5):922–32.
- Kamen DL, Tangpricha V. Vitamin D and molecular actions on the immune system: modulation of innate and autoimmunity. J Mol Med (Berlin, Germany). 2010;88(5):441–50.
- 117. Sigmundsdottir H, Pan J, Debes GF, Alt C, Habtezion A, Soler D, et al. DCs metabolize sunlight-induced vitamin D3 to 'program' T cell attraction to the epidermal chemokine CCL27. Nat Immunol. 2007;8(3):285–93.
- 118. Lysandropoulos AP, Jaquiery E, Jilek S, Pantaleo G, Schluep M, Du Pasquier RA. Vitamin D has a direct immunomodulatory effect on CD8+ T cells of patients with early multiple sclerosis and healthy control subjects. J Neuroimmunol. 2011;233(1–2):240–4.
- 119. Edwards SC, McGinley AM, McGuinness NC, Mills KH. gammadelta T Cells and NK Cells – distinct pathogenic roles as innate-like immune cells in CNS autoimmunity. Front Immunol. 2015;6:455.
- Chen L, Cencioni MT, Angelini DF, Borsellino G, Battistini L, Brosnan CF. Transcriptional pro-

filing of gamma delta T cells identifies a role for vitamin D in the immunoregulation of the V gamma 9V delta 2 response to phosphate-containing ligands. J Immunol (Baltimore, Md: 1950). 2005;174(10):6144–52.

- 121. Yu S, Cantorna MT. The vitamin D receptor is required for iNKT cell development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(13):5207–12.
- 122. Chen J, Waddell A, Lin YD, Cantorna MT. Dysbiosis caused by vitamin D receptor deficiency confers colonization resistance to Citrobacter rodentium through modulation of innate lymphoid cells. Mucosal Immunol. 2015;8(3):618–26.
- 123. Chen S, Sims GP, Chen XX, Gu YY, Chen S, Lipsky PE. Modulatory effects of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 on human B cell differentiation. J Immunol (Baltimore, Md: 1950). 2007;179(3):1634–47.
- 124. Knippenberg S, Peelen E, Smolders J, Thewissen M, Menheere P, Cohen Tervaert JW, et al. Reduction in IL-10 producing B cells (Breg) in multiple sclerosis is accompanied by a reduced naive/memory Breg ratio during a relapse but not in remission. J Neuroimmunol. 2011;239(1–2):80–6.
- 125. Lemire JM, Adams JS, Sakai R, Jordan SC. 1 alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 suppresses proliferation and immunoglobulin production by normal human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. J Clin Invest. 1984;74(2):657–61.
- 126. Iho S, Takahashi T, Kura F, Sugiyama H, Hoshino T. The effect of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 on in vitro immunoglobulin production in human B cells. J Immunol (Baltimore, Md: 1950). 1986; 136(12):4427–31.
- 127. James J, Weaver V, Cantorna MT. Control of circulating IgE by the vitamin D receptor in vivo involves B cell intrinsic and extrinsic mechanisms. J Immunol. 2017;198(3):1164.
- 128. Heine G, Niesner U, Chang HD, Steinmeyer A, Zugel U, Zuberbier T, et al. 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3) promotes IL-10 production in human B cells. Eur J Immunol. 2008;38(8):2210–8.
- 129. Drozdenko G, Scheel T, Heine G, Baumgrass R, Worm M. Impaired T cell activation and cytokine production by calcitriol-primed human B cells. Clin Exp Immunol. 2014;178(2):364–72.
- 130. Danner OK, Matthews LR, Francis S, Rao VN, Harvey CP, Tobin RP, et al. Vitamin D3 suppresses class II invariant chain peptide expression on activated B-lymphocytes: a plausible mechanism for downregulation of acute inflammatory conditions. J Nutr Metab. 2016;2016:4280876.
- 131. White JH. Vitamin D metabolism and signaling in the immune system. Rev Endocr Metab Disord. 2012;13(1):21–9.
- 132. Patil A, Hughes AL, Zhang G. Rapid evolution and diversification of mammalian alpha-defensins as revealed by comparative analysis of rodent and primate genes. Physiol Genomics. 2004;20(1):1–11.
- 133. Heaney RP, Dowell MS, Hale CA, Bendich A. Calcium absorption varies within the reference

range for serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D. J Am Coll Nutr. 2003;22(2):142–6.

- 134. Chapuy MC, Preziosi P, Maamer M, Arnaud S, Galan P, Hercberg S, et al. Prevalence of vitamin D insufficiency in an adult normal population. Osteoporos Int. 1997;7(5):439–43.
- 135. Powe CE, Ricciardi C, Berg AH, Erdenesanaa D, Collerone G, Ankers E, et al. Vitamin D-binding protein modifies the vitamin D-bone mineral density relationship. J Bone Miner Res. 2011;26(7): 1609–16.
- 136. Fetahu IS, Hobaus J, Kallay E. Vitamin D and the epigenome. Front Physiol. 2014;5:164.
- 137. Carlberg C, Seuter S, de Mello VD, Schwab U, Voutilainen S, Pulkki K, et al. Primary vitamin D target genes allow a categorization of possible benefits of vitamin D(3) supplementation. PLoS One. 2013;8(7):e71042.
- 138. Handel AE, Sandve GK, Disanto G, Berlanga-Taylor AJ, Gallone G, Hanwell H, et al. Vitamin D receptor ChIP-seq in primary CD4+ cells: relationship to serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels and autoimmune disease. BMC Med. 2013;11:163.
- 139. Gregori S, Giarratana N, Smiroldo S, Uskokovic M, Adorini L. A 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D(3) analog enhances regulatory T-cells and arrests autoimmune diabetes in NOD mice. Diabetes. 2002;51(5):1367–74.
- 140. Adorini L. Tolerogenic dendritic cells induced by vitamin D receptor ligands enhance regulatory T cells inhibiting autoimmune diabetes. Ann NY Acad Sci. 2003;987:258–61.
- 141. Mathieu C, Waer M, Laureys J, Rutgeerts O, Bouillon R. Prevention of autoimmune diabetes in NOD mice by 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3. Diabetologia. 1994;37(6):552–8.
- 142. Giulietti A, Gysemans C, Stoffels K, van Etten E, Decallonne B, Overbergh L, et al. Vitamin D deficiency in early life accelerates type 1 diabetes in non-obese diabetic mice. Diabetologia. 2004;47(3):451–62.
- 143. Hypponen E. Vitamin D and increasing incidence of type 1 diabetes-evidence for an association? Diabetes Obes Metab. 2010;12(9):737–43.
- 144. Littorin B, Blom P, Scholin A, Arnqvist HJ, Blohme G, Bolinder J, et al. Lower levels of plasma 25-hydroxyvitamin D among young adults at diagnosis of autoimmune type 1 diabetes compared with control subjects: results from the nationwide Diabetes Incidence Study in Sweden (DISS). Diabetologia. 2006;49(12):2847–52.
- 145. Karvonen M, Jantti V, Muntoni S, Stabilini M, Stabilini L, Muntoni S, et al. Comparison of the seasonal pattern in the clinical onset of IDDM in Finland and Sardinia. Diabetes Care. 1998;21(7): 1101–9.
- 146. Ponsonby AL, Pezic A, Ellis J, Morley R, Cameron F, Carlin J, et al. Variation in associations between allelic variants of the vitamin D receptor gene and onset of type 1 diabetes mellitus by ambient winter

ultraviolet radiation levels: a meta-regression analysis. Am J Epidemiol. 2008;168(4):358–65.

- 147. Hypponen E, Laara E, Reunanen A, Jarvelin MR, Virtanen SM. Intake of vitamin D and risk of type 1 diabetes: a birth-cohort study. Lancet (London, England). 2001;358(9292):1500–3.
- 148. Vitamin D Supplement in early childhood and risk for type I (insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus. The EURODIAB Substudy 2 Study Group. Diabetologia. 1999;42(1):51–4.
- 149. Stene LC, Joner G. Use of cod liver oil during the first year of life is associated with lower risk of childhood-onset type 1 diabetes: a large, populationbased, case-control study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2003;78(6):1128–34.
- 150. Zipitis CS, Akobeng AK. Vitamin D supplementation in early childhood and risk of type 1 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Dis Child. 2008;93(6):512–7.
- 151. Fronczak CM, Baron AE, Chase HP, Ross C, Brady HL, Hoffman M, et al. In utero dietary exposures and risk of islet autoimmunity in children. Diabetes Care. 2003;26(12):3237–42.
- 152. Walter M, Kaupper T, Adler K, Foersch J, Bonifacio E, Ziegler AG. No effect of the 1alpha,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 on beta-cell residual function and insulin requirement in adults with new-onset type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(7):1443–8.
- 153. Bizzarri C, Pitocco D, Napoli N, Di Stasio E, Maggi D, Manfrini S, et al. No protective effect of calcitriol on beta-cell function in recent-onset type 1 diabetes: the IMDIAB XIII trial. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(9):1962–3.
- 154. Gabbay MA, Sato MN, Finazzo C, Duarte AJ, Dib SA. Effect of cholecalciferol as adjunctive therapy with insulin on protective immunologic profile and decline of residual beta-cell function in new-onset type 1 diabetes mellitus. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2012;166(7):601–7.
- 155. Li X, Liao L, Yan X, Huang G, Lin J, Lei M, et al. Protective effects of 1-alpha-hydroxyvitamin D3 on residual beta-cell function in patients with adultonset latent autoimmune diabetes (LADA). Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2009;25(5):411–6.
- 156. Annalora AJ, Goodin DB, Hong WX, Zhang Q, Johnson EF, Stout CD. Crystal structure of CYP24A1, a mitochondrial cytochrome P450 involved in vitamin D metabolism. J Mol Biol. 2010;396(2):441–51.
- 157. Kamen D, Aranow C. Vitamin D in systemic lupus erythematosus. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2008;20(5):532–7.
- 158. Feng X, Wu H, Grossman JM, Hanvivadhanakul P, FitzGerald JD, Park GS, et al. Association of increased interferon-inducible gene expression with disease activity and lupus nephritis in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 2006;54(9):2951–62.
- 159. Baechler EC, Batliwalla FM, Karypis G, Gaffney PM, Ortmann WA, Espe KJ, et al. Interferon-

inducible gene expression signature in peripheral blood cells of patients with severe lupus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100(5):2610–5.

- Aranow C. Vitamin D and the immune system. J Investig Med. 2011;59(6):881–6.
- 161. Borba VZ, Vieira JG, Kasamatsu T, Radominski SC, Sato EI, Lazaretti-Castro M. Vitamin D deficiency in patients with active systemic lupus erythematosus. Osteoporos Int. 2009;20(3):427–33.
- 162. Amital H, Szekanecz Z, Szucs G, Danko K, Nagy E, Csepany T, et al. Serum concentrations of 25-OH vitamin D in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) are inversely related to disease activity: is it time to routinely supplement patients with SLE with vitamin D? Ann Rheum Dis. 2010;69(6):1155–7.
- 163. Ruiz-Irastorza G, Egurbide MV, Olivares N, Martinez-Berriotxoa A, Aguirre C. Vitamin D deficiency in systemic lupus erythematosus: prevalence, predictors and clinical consequences. Rheumatology (Oxford, England). 2008;47(6):920–3.
- 164. Costenbader KH, Feskanich D, Holmes M, Karlson EW, Benito-Garcia E. Vitamin D intake and risks of systemic lupus erythematosus and rheumatoid arthritis in women. Ann Rheum Dis. 2008;67(4):530–5.
- 165. Ritterhouse LL, Crowe SR, Niewold TB, Kamen DL, Macwana SR, Roberts VC, et al. Vitamin D deficiency is associated with an increased autoimmune response in healthy individuals and in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann Rheum Dis. 2011;70(9):1569–74.
- 166. Aranow C, Kamen DL, Dall'Era M, Massarotti EM, Mackay MC, Koumpouras F, et al. Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of the effect of vitamin D3 on the interferon signature in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheumatol (Hoboken, NJ). 2015;67(7): 1848–57.
- 167. Andreoli L, Dall'Ara F, Piantoni S, Zanola A, Piva N, Cutolo M, et al. A 24-month prospective study on the efficacy and safety of two different monthly regimens of vitamin D supplementation in pre-menopausal women with systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus. 2015;24(4–5):499–506.
- 168. Abou-Raya A, Abou-Raya S, Helmii M. The effect of vitamin D supplementation on inflammatory and hemostatic markers and disease activity in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. J Rheumatol. 2013;40(3):265–72.
- 169. Petri M, Bello KJ, Fang H, Magder LS. Vitamin D in systemic lupus erythematosus: modest association with disease activity and the urine protein-to-creatinine ratio. Arthritis Rheum. 2013;65(7):1865–71.
- 170. Wright TB, Shults J, Leonard MB, Zemel BS, Burnham JM. Hypovitaminosis D is associated with greater body mass index and disease activity in pediatric systemic lupus erythematosus. J Pediatr. 2009;155(2):260–5.

- 171. Bonakdar ZS, Jahanshahifar L, Jahanshahifar F, Gholamrezaei A. Vitamin D deficiency and its association with disease activity in new cases of systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus. 2011;20(11):1155–60.
- 172. Cantorna MT, Hayes CE, DeLuca HF. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 reversibly blocks the progression of relapsing encephalomyelitis, a model of multiple sclerosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93(15):7861–4.
- 173. Chang JH, Cha HR, Lee DS, Seo KY, Kweon MN. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibits the differentiation and migration of T(H)17 cells to protect against experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. PLoS One. 2010;5(9):e12925.
- 174. Nissou MF, Guttin A, Zenga C, Berger F, Issartel JP, Wion D. Additional clues for a protective role of vitamin D in neurodegenerative diseases: 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 triggers an anti-inflammatory response in brain pericytes. J Alzheimers Dis. 2014;42(3):789–99.
- 175. Smolders J, Schuurman KG, van Strien ME, Melief J, Hendrickx D, Hol EM, et al. Expression of vitamin D receptor and metabolizing enzymes in multiple sclerosis-affected brain tissue. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2013;72(2):91–105.
- 176. Munger KL, Levin LI, Hollis BW, Howard NS, Ascherio A. Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels and risk of multiple sclerosis. JAMA. 2006;296(23):2832–8.
- 177. Kragt J, van Amerongen B, Killestein J, Dijkstra C, Uitdehaag B, Polman C, et al. Higher levels of 25-hydroxyvitamin D are associated with a lower incidence of multiple sclerosis only in women. Mult Scler (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2009;15(1):9–15.
- 178. VanAmerongen BM, Dijkstra CD, Lips P, Polman CH. Multiple sclerosis and vitamin D: an update. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2004;58(8):1095–109.
- 179. Munger KL, Zhang SM, O'Reilly E, Hernan MA, Olek MJ, Willett WC, et al. Vitamin D intake and incidence of multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2004;62(1):60–5.
- 180. Soilu-Hanninen M, Airas L, Mononen I, Heikkila A, Viljanen M, Hanninen A. 25-Hydroxyvitamin D levels in serum at the onset of multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2005;11(3):266–71.
- 181. Holmoy T, Torkildsen O, Myhr KM, Loken-Amsrud KI. Vitamin D supplementation and monitoring in multiple sclerosis: who, when and wherefore. Acta Neurol Scand Suppl. 2012;195:63–9.
- 182. Stewart N, Simpson S Jr, van der Mei I, Ponsonby AL, Blizzard L, Dwyer T, et al. Interferon-beta and serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D interact to modulate relapse risk in MS. Neurology. 2012;79(3):254–60.
- 183. Burton JM, Kimball S, Vieth R, Bar-Or A, Dosch HM, Cheung R, et al. A phase I/II dose-escalation trial of vitamin D3 and calcium in multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2010;74(23):1852–9.

- 184. Soilu-Hanninen M, Aivo J, Lindstrom BM, Elovaara I, Sumelahti ML, Farkkila M, et al. A randomised, double blind, placebo controlled trial with vitamin D3 as an add on treatment to interferon beta-1b in patients with multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2012;83(5):565–71.
- 185. Derakhshandi H, Etemadifar M, Feizi A, Abtahi SH, Minagar A, Abtahi MA, et al. Preventive effect of vitamin D3 supplementation on conversion of optic neuritis to clinically definite multiple sclerosis: a double blind, randomized, placebo-controlled pilot clinical trial. Acta Neurol Belg. 2013;113(3):257–63.
- Mosayebi G, Ghazavi A, Ghasami K, Jand Y, Kokhaei P. Therapeutic effect of vitamin D3 in multiple sclerosis patients. Immunol Investig. 2011;40(6):627–39.
- 187. Kampman MT, Steffensen LH, Mellgren SI, Jorgensen L. Effect of vitamin D3 supplementation on relapses, disease progression, and measures of function in persons with multiple sclerosis: exploratory outcomes from a double-blind randomised controlled trial. Mult Scler (Houndmills, Basingstoke, England). 2012;18(8):1144–51.
- 188. Stein MS, Liu Y, Gray OM, Baker JE, Kolbe SC, Ditchfield MR, et al. A randomized trial of high-dose vitamin D2 in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2011;77(17):1611–8.
- 189. Xystrakis E, Kusumakar S, Boswell S, Peek E, Urry Z, Richards DF, et al. Reversing the defective induction of IL-10-secreting regulatory T cells in glucocorticoid-resistant asthma patients. J Clin Invest. 2006;116(1):146–55.
- 190. Hall SC, Fischer KD, Agrawal DK. The impact of vitamin D on asthmatic human airway smooth muscle. Expert Rev Respir Med. 2016;10(2):127–35.
- 191. Foong RE, Shaw NC, Berry LJ, Hart PH, Gorman S, Zosky GR. Vitamin D deficiency causes airway hyperresponsiveness, increases airway smooth muscle mass, and reduces TGF-beta expression in the lungs of female BALB/c mice. Physiol Rep. 2014;2(3):e00276.
- 192. Li W, Dong H, Zhao H, Song J, Tang H, Yao L, et al. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 prevents toluene diisocyanate-induced airway epithelial barrier disruption. Int J Mol Med. 2015;36(1):263–70.
- 193. Khorasanizadeh M, Eskian M, Gelfand EW, Rezaei N. Mitogen-activated protein kinases as therapeutic targets for asthma. Pharmacol Ther. 2017;174:112–26.
- 194. Camargo CA Jr, Rifas-Shiman SL, Litonjua AA, Rich-Edwards JW, Weiss ST, Gold DR, et al. Maternal intake of vitamin D during pregnancy and risk of recurrent wheeze in children at 3 y of age. Am J Clin Nutr. 2007;85(3):788–95.
- 195. Gupta A, Bush A, Hawrylowicz C, Saglani S. Vitamin D and asthma in children. Paediatr Respir Rev. 2012;13(4):236–43; quiz 43.
- 196. Turkeli A, Ayaz O, Uncu A, Ozhan B, Bas VN, Tufan AK, et al. Effects of vitamin D levels on asthma control and severity in pre-school children. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2016;20(1):26–36.

- 197. Feng H, Xun P, Pike K, Wills AK, Chawes BL, Bisgaard H, et al. In utero exposure to 25-hydroxyvitamin D and risk of childhood asthma, wheeze, and respiratory tract infections: a meta-analysis of birth cohort studies. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2017;139(5):1508–17.
- 198. Korn S, Hubner M, Jung M, Blettner M, Buhl R. Severe and uncontrolled adult asthma is associated with vitamin D insufficiency and deficiency. Respir Res. 2013;14:25.
- 199. Brumpton BM, Langhammer A, Henriksen AH, Camargo CA Jr, Chen Y, Romundstad PR, et al. Vitamin D and lung function decline in adults with asthma: the HUNT study. Am J Epidemiol. 2016;183(8):739–46.
- 200. Tsai CL, Delclos GL, Huang JS, Hanania NA, Camargo CA Jr. Age-related differences in asthma outcomes in the United States, 1988–2006. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2013(4):110, 240–6, 6.e1.
- 201. Jolliffe DA, Kilpin K, MacLaughlin BD, Greiller CL, Hooper RL, Barnes NC, et al. Prevalence, determinants and clinical correlates of vitamin D deficiency in adults with inhaled corticosteroid-treated asthma in London, UK. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2018;175:88–96.
- 202. Thuesen BH, Heede NG, Tang L, Skaaby T, Thyssen JP, Friedrich N, et al. No association between vitamin D and atopy, asthma, lung function or atopic dermatitis: a prospective study in adults. Allergy. 2015;70(11):1501–4.
- 203. Dabbah H, Bar Yoseph R, Livnat G, Hakim F, Bentur L. Bronchial reactivity, inflammatory and allergic parameters, and vitamin D levels in children with asthma. Respir Care. 2015;60(8):1157.
- 204. Mai XM, Langhammer A, Camargo CA Jr, Chen Y. Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels and incident asthma in adults: the HUNT study. Am J Epidemiol. 2012;176(12):1169–76.
- 205. Rothers J, Wright AL, Stern DA, Halonen M, Camargo CA Jr. Cord blood 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels are associated with aeroallergen sensitization in children from Tucson, Arizona. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2011;128(5):1093–9.e1–5.
- 206. Camargo CA Jr, Ingham T, Wickens K, Thadhani R, Silvers KM, Epton MJ, et al. Cord-blood 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels and risk of respiratory infection, wheezing, and asthma. Pediatrics. 2011;127(1):e180–7.
- 207. Camargo CAJ. Vitamin D, Acute respiratory infection, and asthma/COPD. In: Feldman D, Pike W, Bouillon R, Giovannucci E, Goltzman D, Hewison M, editors. Vitamin D. 4th ed. Burlington: Elsevier Academic Press; 2018. in press.
- 208. Majak P, Olszowiec-Chlebna M, Smejda K, Stelmach I. Vitamin D supplementation in children may prevent asthma exacerbation triggered by acute respiratory infection. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2011;127(5):1294–6.
- Pojsupap S, Iliriani K, Sampaio TZ, O'Hearn K, Kovesi T, Menon K, et al. Efficacy of high-dose vita-

min D in pediatric asthma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Asthma. 2015;52(4):382–90.

- 210. Riverin BD, Maguire JL, Li P. Vitamin D supplementation for childhood asthma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2015;10(8):e0136841.
- 211. Goldring ST, Griffiths CJ, Martineau AR, Robinson S, Yu C, Poulton S, et al. Prenatal vitamin D supplementation and child respiratory health: a randomised controlled trial. PLoS One. 2013;8(6):e66627.
- 212. Litonjua AA, Carey VJ, Laranjo N, Harshfield BJ, McElrath TF, O'Connor GT, et al. Effect of prenatal supplementation with Vitamin D on asthma or recurrent wheezing in offspring by age 3 years: the VDAART randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2016;315(4):362–70.
- 213. Chawes BL, Bonnelykke K, Stokholm J, Vissing NH, Bjarnadottir E, Schoos AM, et al. Effect of vitamin D3 supplementation during pregnancy on risk of persistent wheeze in the offspring: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2016;315(4):353–61.
- 214. Grant CC, Crane J, Mitchell EA, Sinclair J, Stewart A, Milne T, et al. Vitamin D supplementation during pregnancy and infancy reduces aeroallergen sensitization: a randomized controlled trial. Allergy. 2016;71(9):1325–34.
- 215. Christensen N, Sondergaard J, Fisker N, Christesen HT. Infant respiratory tract infections or wheeze and maternal vitamin D in pregnancy: a systematic review. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2017;36(4):384–91.
- 216. Castro M, King TS, Kunselman SJ, Cabana MD, Denlinger L, Holguin F, et al. Effect of vitamin D3 on asthma treatment failures in adults with symptomatic asthma and lower vitamin D levels: the VIDA randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2014;311(20):2083–91.
- 217. Jolliffe DA, Greenberg L, Hooper RL, Griffiths CJ, Camargo CA Jr, Kerley CP, et al. Vitamin D supplementation to prevent asthma exacerbations: a systematic review and meta-analysis of individual participant data. Lancet Respir Med. 2017;5(11):881–90.
- Cantorna MT. Vitamin D, multiple sclerosis and inflammatory bowel disease. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2012;523(1):103–6.
- Froicu M, Cantorna MT. Vitamin D and the vitamin D receptor are critical for control of the innate immune response to colonic injury. BMC Immunol. 2007;8:5.
- 220. Dhawan P, Veldurthy V, Yehia G, Hsaio C, Porta A, Kim KI, et al. Transgenic expression of the vitamin D receptor restricted to the ileum, cecum, and colon of vitamin D receptor knockout mice rescues vitamin D receptor-dependent rickets. Endocrinology. 2017;158(11):3792–804.
- 221. Christakos S, Seth T, Hirsch J, Porta A, Moulas A, Dhawan P. Vitamin D biology revealed through the study of knockout and transgenic mouse models. Annu Rev Nutr. 2013;33:71–85.

- 222. Kong J, Zhang Z, Musch MW, Ning G, Sun J, Hart J, et al. Novel role of the vitamin D receptor in maintaining the integrity of the intestinal mucosal barrier. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2008;294(1):G208–16.
- 223. Jin D, Wu S, Zhang YG, Lu R, Xia Y, Dong H, et al. Lack of vitamin D receptor causes dysbiosis and changes the functions of the murine intestinal microbiome. Clin Ther. 2015;37(5): 996–1009.e7.
- 224. Cho JH. The genetics and immunopathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008;8(6):458–66.
- 225. Loftus EV Jr. Clinical epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease: incidence, prevalence, and environmental influences. Gastroenterology. 2004;126(6):1504–17.
- 226. Meeker S, Seamons A, Paik J, Treuting PM, Brabb T, Grady WM, et al. Increased dietary vitamin D suppresses MAPK signaling, colitis, and colon cancer. Cancer Res. 2014;74(16):4398–408.
- 227. Jorgensen SP, Hvas CL, Agnholt J, Christensen LA, Heickendorff L, Dahlerup JF. Active Crohn's disease is associated with low vitamin D levels. J Crohns Colitis. 2013;7(10):e407–13.
- 228. Ananthakrishnan AN, Cheng SC, Cai T, Cagan A, Gainer VS, Szolovits P, et al. Serum inflammatory markers and risk of colorectal cancer in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2014;12(8):1342–8.e1.
- Blanck S, Aberra F. Vitamin D deficiency is associated with ulcerative colitis disease activity. Dig Dis Sci. 2013;58(6):1698–702.
- 230. Del Pinto R, Pietropaoli D, Chandar AK, Ferri C, Cominelli F. Association between inflammatory bowel disease and Vitamin D deficiency: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2015;21(11):2708–17.
- 231. Jorgensen SP, Agnholt J, Glerup H, Lyhne S, Villadsen GE, Hvas CL, et al. Clinical trial: vitamin D3 treatment in Crohn's disease – a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2010;32(3):377–83.
- 232. Yang L, Weaver V, Smith JP, Bingaman S, Hartman TJ, Cantorna MT. Therapeutic effect of vitamin D supplementation in a pilot study of Crohn's patients. Clin Transl Gastroenterol. 2013;4:e33.
- 233. Sharifi A, Hosseinzadeh-Attar MJ, Vahedi H, Nedjat S. A randomized controlled trial on the effect of vitamin D3 on inflammation and cathelicidin gene expression in ulcerative colitis patients. Saudi J Gastroenterol. 2016;22(4):316–23.
- 234. Dadaei T, Safapoor MH, Asadzadeh Aghdaei H, Balaii H, Pourhoseingholi MA, Naderi N, et al. Effect of vitamin D3 supplementation on TNF-alpha serum level and disease activity index in Iranian IBD patients. Gastroenterol Hepatol Bed Bench. 2015;8(1):49–55.
- 235. Mathur J, Naing S, Mills P, Limsui D. A randomized clinical trial of vitamin D3 (cholecalciferol) in ulcerative colitis patients with hypovitaminosis D3. PeerJ. 2017;5:e3654.

- 236. Laaksi I, Ruohola JP, Tuohimaa P, Auvinen A, Haataja R, Pihlajamaki H, et al. An association of serum vitamin D concentrations <40 nmol/L with acute respiratory tract infection in young Finnish men. Am J Clin Nutr. 2007;86(3):714–7.
- 237. Quraishi SA, Bittner EA, Christopher KB, Camargo CA Jr. Vitamin D status and community-acquired pneumonia: results from the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. PLoS One. 2013;8(11):e81120.
- 238. Cannell JJ, Vieth R, Willett W, Zasloff M, Hathcock JN, White JH, et al. Cod liver oil, vitamin A toxicity, frequent respiratory infections, and the vitamin D deficiency epidemic. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol. 2008;117(11):864–70.
- 239. Ginde AA, Mansbach JM, Camargo CA Jr. Association between serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D level and upper respiratory tract infection in the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Arch Intern Med. 2009;169(4):384–90.
- 240. Monlezun DJ, Bittner EA, Christopher KB, Camargo CA, Quraishi SA. Vitamin D status and acute respiratory infection: cross sectional results from the United States National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2001–2006. Nutrients. 2015;7(3):1933–44.
- 241. Fried DA, Rhyu J, Odato K, Blunt H, Karagas MR, Gilbert-Diamond D. Maternal and cord blood vitamin D status and childhood infection and allergic disease: a systematic review. Nutr Rev. 2016;74(6):387–410.
- 242. Cannell JJ, Vieth R, Umhau JC, Holick MF, Grant WB, Madronich S, et al. Epidemic influenza and vitamin D. Epidemiol Infect. 2006;134(6):1129–40.
- 243. Grant WB. Variations in vitamin D production could possibly explain the seasonality of childhood respiratory infections in Hawaii. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2008;27(9):853.
- 244. Belderbos ME, Houben ML, Wilbrink B, Lentjes E, Bloemen EM, Kimpen JL, et al. Cord blood vitamin D deficiency is associated with respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. Pediatrics. 2011;127(6):e1513–20.
- 245. Murdoch DR, Slow S, Chambers ST, Jennings LC, Stewart AW, Priest PC, et al. Effect of vitamin D3 supplementation on upper respiratory tract infections in healthy adults: the VIDARIS randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2012;308(13):1333–9.
- 246. Laaksi I, Ruohola JP, Mattila V, Auvinen A, Ylikomi T, Pihlajamaki H. Vitamin D supplementation for the prevention of acute respiratory tract infection: a randomized, double-blinded trial among young Finnish men. J Infect Dis. 2010;202(5):809–14.
- 247. Bergman P, Norlin AC, Hansen S, Rekha RS, Agerberth B, Bjorkhem-Bergman L et al. Vitamin D3 supplementation in patients with frequent respiratory tract infections: a randomised and doubleblind intervention study. BMJ Open. 2012;2(6).
- 248. Camargo CA Jr, Ganmaa D, Frazier AL, Kirchberg FF, Stuart JJ, Kleinman K, et al. Randomized trial

of vitamin D supplementation and risk of acute respiratory infection in Mongolia. Pediatrics. 2012;130(3):e561–7.

- 249. Grant CC, Kaur S, Waymouth E, Mitchell EA, Scragg R, Ekeroma A, et al. Reduced primary care respiratory infection visits following pregnancy and infancy vitamin D supplementation: a randomised controlled trial. Acta Paediatr (Oslo, Norway : 1992). 2015;104(4):396–404.
- Aloia JF, Li-Ng M. Re: epidemic influenza and vitamin D. Epidemiol Infect. 2007;135(7):1095–6; author reply 7-8
- 251. Urashima M, Segawa T, Okazaki M, Kurihara M, Wada Y, Ida H. Randomized trial of vitamin D supplementation to prevent seasonal influenza A in schoolchildren. Am J Clin Nutr. 2010;91(5):1255–60.
- 252. Martineau AR, Jolliffe DA, Hooper RL, Greenberg L, Aloia JF, Bergman P, et al. Vitamin D supplementation to prevent acute respiratory tract infections: systematic review and meta-analysis of individual participant data. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2017;356:i6583.
- 253. Magnus MC, Stene LC, Haberg SE, Nafstad P, Stigum H, London SJ, et al. Prospective study of maternal mid-pregnancy 25-hydroxyvitamin D level and early childhood respiratory disorders. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol. 2013;27(6):532–41.
- 254. Jat KR. Vitamin D deficiency and lower respiratory tract infections in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Trop Dr. 2017;47(1):77–84.
- 255. Manaseki-Holland S, Maroof Z, Bruce J, Mughal MZ, Masher MI, Bhutta ZA, et al. Effect on the incidence of pneumonia of vitamin D supplementation by quarterly bolus dose to infants in Kabul: a randomised controlled superiority trial. Lancet (London, England). 2012;379(9824):1419–27.
- 256. Wilkinson RJ, Llewelyn M, Toossi Z, Patel P, Pasvol G, Lalvani A, et al. Influence of vitamin D deficiency and vitamin D receptor polymorphisms on tuberculosis among Gujarati Asians in west London: a case-control study. Lancet (London, England). 2000;355(9204):618–21.
- 257. Ustianowski A, Shaffer R, Collin S, Wilkinson RJ, Davidson RN. Prevalence and associations of vitamin D deficiency in foreign-born persons with tuberculosis in London. J Infect. 2005;50(5):432–7.
- Williams B, Williams AJ, Anderson ST. Vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency in children with tuberculosis. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2008;27(10):941–2.
- 259. Huang SJ, Wang XH, Liu ZD, Cao WL, Han Y, Ma AG, et al. Vitamin D deficiency and the risk of tuberculosis: a meta-analysis. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2017;11:91–102.
- 260. Xia J, Shi L, Zhao L, Xu F. Impact of vitamin D supplementation on the outcome of tuberculosis treatment: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Chin Med J. 2014;127(17):3127–34.

- 261. Martineau AR, Wilkinson RJ, Wilkinson KA, Newton SM, Kampmann B, Hall BM, et al. A single dose of vitamin D enhances immunity to mycobacteria. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2007;176(2):208–13.
- 262. Nursyam EW, Amin Z, Rumende CM. The effect of vitamin D as supplementary treatment in patients with moderately advanced pulmonary tuberculous lesion. Acta Med Indones. 2006;38(1):3–5.
- 263. Coussens AK, Wilkinson RJ, Hanifa Y, Nikolayevskyy V, Elkington PT, Islam K, et al. Vitamin D accelerates resolution of inflammatory responses during tuberculosis treatment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109(38):15449–54.
- Prietl B, Treiber G, Pieber TR, Amrein K. Vitamin D and immune function. Nutrients. 2013;5(7):2502–21.
- 265. Wejse C, Gomes VF, Rabna P, Gustafson P, Aaby P, Lisse IM, et al. Vitamin D as supplementary treatment for tuberculosis: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2009;179(9):843–50.
- 266. Martineau AR, Timms PM, Bothamley GH, Hanifa Y, Islam K, Claxton AP, et al. High-dose vitamin D(3) during intensive-phase antimicrobial treatment of pulmonary tuberculosis: a double-blind randomised controlled trial. Lancet (London, England). 2011;377(9761):242–50.
- 267. Speeckaert MM, Speeckaert R, van Geel N, Delanghe JR. Vitamin D binding protein: a multifunctional protein of clinical importance. Adv Clin Chem. 2014;63:1–57.
- 268. Lauridsen AL, Vestergaard P, Hermann AP, Brot C, Heickendorff L, Mosekilde L, et al. Plasma concentrations of 25-hydroxy-vitamin D and 1,25-dihydroxy-vitamin D are related to the phenotype of Gc (vitamin D-binding protein): a crosssectional study on 595 early postmenopausal women. Calcif Tissue Int. 2005;77(1):15–22.
- 269. Wang TJ, Zhang F, Richards JB, Kestenbaum B, van Meurs JB, Berry D, et al. Common genetic determinants of vitamin D insufficiency: a genomewide association study. Lancet (London, England). 2010;376(9736):180–8.
- 270. Chun RF, Lauridsen AL, Suon L, Zella LA, Pike JW, Modlin RL, et al. Vitamin D-binding protein

directs monocyte responses to 25-hydroxy- and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010;95(7):3368–76.

- 271. Hewison M. An update on vitamin D and human immunity. Clin Endocrinol. 2012;76(3):315–25.
- 272. Martineau AR, Leandro AC, Anderson ST, Newton SM, Wilkinson KA, Nicol MP, et al. Association between Gc genotype and susceptibility to TB is dependent on vitamin D status. Eur Respir J. 2010;35(5):1106–12.
- 273. Arai H, Miyamoto K, Taketani Y, Yamamoto H, Iemori Y, Morita K, et al. A vitamin D receptor gene polymorphism in the translation initiation codon: effect on protein activity and relation to bone mineral density in Japanese women. J Bone Miner Res. 1997;12(6):915–21.
- 274. Gao L, Tao Y, Zhang L, Jin Q. Vitamin D receptor genetic polymorphisms and tuberculosis: updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2010;14(1):15–23.
- 275. Janssen R, Bont L, Siezen CL, Hodemaekers HM, Ermers MJ, Doornbos G, et al. Genetic susceptibility to respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis is predominantly associated with innate immune genes. J Infect Dis. 2007;196(6):826–34.
- 276. Wang L, Wang ZT, Hu JJ, Fan R, Zhou J, Zhong J. Polymorphisms of the vitamin D receptor gene and the risk of inflammatory bowel disease: a meta-analysis. Genet Mol Res. 2014;13(2):2598–610.
- 277. Ates O, Dolek B, Dalyan L, Musellim B, Ongen G, Topal-Sarikaya A. The association between BsmI variant of vitamin D receptor gene and susceptibility to tuberculosis. Mol Biol Rep. 2011;38(4):2633–6.
- 278. Motohashi Y, Yamada S, Yanagawa T, Maruyama T, Suzuki R, Niino M, et al. Vitamin D receptor gene polymorphism affects onset pattern of type 1 diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;88(7):3137–40.
- Stefanic M, Rucevic I, Barisic-Drusko V. Metaanalysis of vitamin D receptor polymorphisms and psoriasis risk. Int J Dermatol. 2013;52(6):705–10.
- 280. Bailey R, Cooper JD, Zeitels L, Smyth DJ, Yang JH, Walker NM, et al. Association of the vitamin D metabolism gene CYP27B1 with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes. 2007;56(10):2616–21.